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Bringing
quality
to life

chairman’s message

Welcome to our
Annual Report
for 2006/07
Last year I mentioned we were strengthening
our foundations and I’m pleased to say
the results of this have shown through
very positively. Despite ever increasing
competition, the business is more profitable
and there has been a modest improvement
in UK sales. We have continued to provide
a strong social return and as a result of
high quality financial and supply chain
management, our cash balance is much
healthier. The social return has meant further
investment in our Producer Partnership
Programme (PPP), benefiting our growers,
their businesses, and their communities.
Our increase in profits and cash has meant
greater reserves to withstand any turmoil
in the world markets that might affect us.
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There has also been solid progress on
developing sales into new markets in Asia.
However, we have not yet embarked on
the expansion ideas that I previewed with
you at the AGM last year. There are two
reasons for this postponement. Firstly, it was
apparent at the last AGM that support for a
significant expansion was divided amongst
shareholders, both very positive and very
negative. More dialogue is needed to
assess the opportunities, risks, and pace.
Secondly, it emerged during the course
of last year that we needed to focus more
of our efforts on the UK to retain our
market position. We take great pride in
being pioneers for creating a growing and
vibrant Fairtrade UK market which benefits
so many producers in so many countries.
It does, however, bring with it much more
competition -- and generally at standards
much lower than our own Gold Standard.
Not all consumers appreciate this and it is
up to us to make sure our difference shows
through considerably. The Board remains
committed to expansion underpinned
by the Gold Standard and a secure and
sustainable UK base.
Another big piece of news is that Penny
Newman, our CEO who has been with
Cafédirect for the past ten years, will be
leaving on 10 March 2008. Her leadership,
guidance, and vision during the past
years have been integral to the success
of Cafédirect. We were all delighted that
her achievements at Cafédirect and her
influence in the wider ethical business arena
were recognised with an OBE in the 2008
New Year’s Honours list. I congratulate her,
on behalf of all shareholders, for all her
achievements and contributions to both

Cafédirect and the world of Fairtrade,
and further wish her the very best in all
her future endeavours.
Following a thorough and extensive
search for her successor, I am also very
pleased to announce that Anne MacCaig
has been appointed, and will be joining
us as our new CEO from 11 March 2008.
Anne has over 20 years of experience in
the FMCG (“fast moving consumer goods”)
sector. She has been the Marketing Director
for Ribena, and has overseen a dramatic
reversal in the fortunes of this £153 million
brand, turning a 10% sales decline into a
1% growth. At the same time she has
forged the development of The Wildlife
Trusts’ approved farming plans for UK
blackcurrant farmers. Anne has a passion for
growing brands and her desire to positively
impact the world, coupled with a history of
supporting farmers, makes her skill set and
experience complementary to the ethos and
business needs of Cafédirect. I wish her well
and look forward to working together with
her to take Cafédirect from strength
to strength.
At the time of writing this letter, the
short-term global economic trends are poor
and we will need to be careful and nimble
in our corporate stewardship. Longer term,
I do remain convinced that there are
excellent prospects for Cafédirect and
the growers we work with.

Krishna Gopala,
Chairman, Cafédirect plc
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CEO’s message

A Penny full
of thoughts
Dear shareholder,
Cafédirect’s vision is to build a business
which is mindful of growers’ needs, their
circumstances, their lives, and their families
and communities. This is the heart of
Cafédirect’s business philosophy. So this
year a particular focus for our Producer
Partnership Programme (PPP) -- an aspect of
social return unique to Cafédirect -- has been
on developing ways of helping growers adapt
to the extremes of our changing climate.
We’ve initiated a three-year public private
partnership with the German Technical
Cooperation (GTZ) to support small farmers
in analysing the threats of climate change to
their specific environments and identifying
practical adaptation strategies.
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We are also supporting a number of our
African grower partners on developing
specific environmental initiatives, such
as increasing their energy efficiency and
reducing deforestation.
Knowing the importance of helping
growers when market prices fall, we have
worked directly with our tea grower partners
to introduce an improved pricing structure
to provide additional support when this
situation occurs. As a result, the company
has increased its minimum price by 8%,
and, including the Fairtrade premium,
paid on average 47% over and above
tea market prices.
In summary, our social return includes
paying nearly £1.0 million to coffee, tea,
and cocoa growers over and above market
prices, and a further £0.6 million invested
in the PPP. Furthermore, these investments
enabled an additional £0.7 million to be
raised by our PPP implementation partners
from other sources.
Concerning the financial aspects of the
company, we have worked hard to improve
our profitability. Pre-tax profits rose to
£705,000, from £48,000 in the previous
year. This was achieved on a turnover of
£22.3 million, an annual increase of 3%.
The strongest growth continued to be in
the out-of-home sector, which grew by
33% to £4.6 million. This was helped by
the introduction of new products such
as vending hot chocolate and organic
espresso coffee beans, and by significant
new contract wins by the company and
its distributors. Overseas sales also grew
strongly, albeit from a small base, and
reached £0.7 million this year, from
£0.4 million.
Regarding dividends, the Board wishes
to take a prudent approach in view of the
current uncertain economic climate and our
continuing commitment to social return. It
is therefore recommending that no financial
dividend be paid to shareholders this year.
On a personal note, March 2008 marks
the end of my tenure at Cafédirect. After

Penny Newman at the Kyabaranga Primary School
in Uganda, which is supported by Cafédirect.

ten years with the company I feel a mixture
of pride and humility over what has been
achieved -- a six-fold increase in sales and
hence 1.4 million people -- farmers, their
families, and their communities -- benefiting
from their partnership with us. I feel our
emphasis on seeking social as well as
financial returns has continually pushed
forward the boundaries of what Fairtrade
and ethical business can do in striving to
change the imbalances in our increasingly
interconnected world. It is my aim in future
roles, whatever they may be, to continue to
champion these principles, finding practical
ways of making business fair.
For what we have achieved I am
indebted to all stakeholders who played
a part - the great team of 34 employees
based in London, consumers, yourselves
as shareholders, our partners in the UK,
Ireland, and Asia, the unflinchingly loyal
supporters in church halls and other venues
up and down the country, and most of all,
of course, our grower partners.
I will leave with a wealth of amazing
memories, I thank everyone for them,
and I wish the company and you all the
very best for the future.
Yours sincerely,
Penny Newman,
Chief Executive, Cafédirect plc
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We couldn’t say
it any better…
Rufino Herrera Puello is a coffee farmer in the Dominican
Republic and the General Manager of FEDECARES,
a co-operative made up of 7,000 smallholder farmers.
We have been partners since 1995, and their coffee goes
into our Classic Blend.
Rufino recently wrote to us with a message
‘for the shareholders of Cafédirect.’

The relationship that we have and
enjoy with Cafédirect is different
to those with our other clients. With
Cafédirect we are more than clients,
we are partners, which means our
relationship is both long-standing and
far-reaching. This unique relationship
is the reason why, even in the most
difficult moments for FEDECARES,
we have been able to count on our
partnership with Cafédirect.
For example, between 1998-2002,
we experienced Hurricane George
and the appearance of the coffee
borer plague, both of which seriously
damaged our coffee crop. During
that time, our growers worked hard
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to guarantee at least two containers
of coffee each year, destined for
our partners overseas. All the while,
Cafédirect stood by us and maintained
continual contact with us to make sure
that FEDECARES remained on the road
to recovery.
Today, I would like to send a message
of gratitude to the shareholders of
Cafédirect for the solidarity they have
shown us in the wake of Tropical Storm
Noel. Please know that this gesture
has no price.
Imagine what it was like for many of us,
including myself, to go to bed one night
as normal and then, just a few hours
later, to wake up to the fury of the rivers
and streams and to see the landslides
that had destroyed and buried many
of our homes and all our possessions.
The next day we found that some of our
growers, and my own friends, had lost
loved ones. A large part of our harvest
and fields had disappeared.
In the case of Hurricanes David in 1979
and George in 1998, I helped those
around me who were affected, but in
the case of Noel, my family and I were
one of more than 300 families from the
coffee growing zone that had lost much
of the fruit of many years of labour.

I personally remain resolute and look
to the future with hope and faith,
because I knew that the communities
would receive both spiritual and
material support from many people,
as had been the case before.
But today, more than ever, I am
convinced that solidarity is the only
force that can transform the world.
Warmest wishes to the entire
Cafédirect family,
Rufino Herrera Puello

In theory, anyone can sell
Fairtrade products by simply
buying raw materials from
the Fairtrade register. But
pioneering spirit, genuine
concern, and a powerful calling
to promote justice through
trade created Cafédirect, and
it’s what continues to make
us different. As we move
forward, it is precisely this
focus on direct, personal
relationships that will
propel our vision and guide
our strategy.
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Above and Beyond...

Cafédirect sets the
bar for Environmental
Guardianship
One of the most exciting initiatives of the past year
has been the public private partnership that Cafédirect
initiated with some of our grower partner organisations
and the German Technical Cooperation (GTZ).
From flooding and severe hurricanes in
Mexico and Central America to prolonged
droughts in East Africa, our growers
represent a part of the population that
is most vulnerable to climate change…
poor agricultural smallholders in rural
areas. Their dependence upon their harvest
means that even small environmental
changes have big effects.
This three-year partnership with GTZ
aims to support smallholders in analysing
the possible effects of climate change in
respect to their specific environments,
and to identify viable ways to adapt.
“It is time for all to act,” said Julius
Ethang’atha, a tea grower and Premium
Committee member from the Michimikuru
Tea Factory in Kenya. “The project
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spearheaded by Cafédirect and GTZ
is a response to a global call for action
to combat the increasing adverse effects
of climate change, while contributing to
sustainable development, particularly in
the tea and coffee sites in the region.”
The first phase of the project consisted
of grower dialogues in six focus areas
(Mexico, Nicaragua, Peru, Tanzania, Uganda,
and Kenya) to consolidate growers’ views on
climate change and provide a starting point
for further research. Climate and agricultural
experts then studied the latest climate
scenarios and statistics for the areas, as well as
seeking out both internal and external sources
of funding and support for smallholders. The
results were published in a report on climate
change impacts in November 2007.

In summary, the report indicates that the
impacts of climate change will vary between
the regions. While they will all experience
rising average temperatures and variations in
water availability, Latin America will be most
threatened by floods and hurricanes, while
East Africa will be most affected by drought.
The dialogues showed that most growers
already have ideas on how to cope with
climate change, but they lack the financial and
technical support to put them into practice.
The challenges to successful adaptation vary
depending on location. For example, Mexico
has already published its third National
Communication to the United Nations
Framework Convention on Climate Change
(UNFCCC), while other countries, especially in
Africa, have much weaker public institutions.
With the research phase complete, six
in-depth risk assessments will be conducted
with a select group of grower organisations
in early 2008. These are CEPICAFE in Peru,
PRODECOOP in Nicaragua, the Michimikuru
Tea Factory in Kenya, KNCU in Tanzania,
the Kayonza Growers’ Tea Factory Ltd. in
Uganda, and a to-be-confirmed Mexican
co-operative. The goal here is to identify
with growers the specific risks, needs and,
most importantly, solutions to adapt to
their changing climates. On the basis of
these results, adaptation strategies will be
developed and implemented, and short to
mid-term financing options will be identified
to support these efforts. The results and
experiences of these pilot projects will then
be made accessible to all growers and
interested stakeholders.
For more information or to follow the
developments of these activities, go to
>> www.adapcc.org.

Energy Efficiency work with
Kiegoi, Kenya

Last year Cafédirect’s Producer
Partnership Programme (PPP) assisted
several of its tea partners, including
the Kiegoi Tea Factory in Kenya, in
creating community-led and needsbased environmental initiatives.

One of the boilers at Kiegoi that is now functioning
more efficiently.

At Kiegoi’s factory, excessive electricity
consumption and the inefficient
management of wood fuel for boilers were
resulting in the burning of large amounts
of inappropriate wood and a burgeoning
market in younger trees, which contributed
to deforestation.
After a comprehensive energy audit in
2007, the factory has managed to reduce
its electricity consumption by 15%. It is also
implementing new timber usage policies
that include building a covered area for the
wood to dry and advanced purchasing to
guarantee a market for sustainably harvested
wood. These practices alone increased
timber efficiency by 40%, and as a result
Cafédirect is initiating similar activities with
partners in Kenya and elsewhere.

A joint project by
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Environmental Guardianship

Reforestation with RSTGA
– Fairtrade Firewood?

The Rungwe district of Southwestern Tanzania, where our partner
Rungwe Smallholder Tea Association (RSTGA) is located, is surrounded
by mountain ranges on three sides and boasts deep volcanic soils.
Its delicate ecosystems are home to rare varieties of flora and fauna,
and it is also one of the most highly populated regions in Tanzania.
While the Wakulima factory, co-owned
by RSTGA, is the most visible consumer
of firewood, local residents actually use
85% of all the timber felled in the district
to cook and to heat their homes. Local
smallholder growers harvest Blue Gum trees
(an imported species), which they sell on
to middlemen for around US $2 per cubic
metre. The middlemen then sell it on to
buyers like the factory and tea farmers. High
demand for timber has outstripped supply,
and the factory started receiving younger
(less efficient) firewood, and even worse,
native hardwood from local forests.
With the help of the PPP, RSTGA and
the factory have developed a strategy to
encourage sustainable timber management
practices. The three main areas they are
focusing on are:
1. Encouraging sustainable Blue Gum
forestry by smallholders on land owned
by the factory
2. Creating a direct link between the
factory and Blue Gum farmers to avoid
middlemen and provide a fairer income
for farmers
3. Reducing domestic consumption of
firewood in the district through promotion
of more efficient technologies
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In addition, Cafédirect funded the mentoring
and coaching of a newly appointed
Forestry and Environment Officer at
RSTGA, Chamalindi Bugingo, to oversee
these efforts, and the results so far are
encouraging. Five nurseries with upwards
of 100,000 saplings have been established
and Blue Gum trees have been planted
among the tea and banana crops.
The factory has cut out the middlemen,
buying wood directly from tree farmers.
This has doubled the farmers’ income, and
includes a stipulation guaranteeing better
quality wood for RSTGA. Chamalindi has
also arranged to paint the backs of the
tea leaf collection trucks with pictures and
messages that reinforce the sustainable
harvesting of wood to sell to the factory.
To address household fuel use,
Cafédirect have linked RSTGA’s factory
with a GTZ funded project called the
Promotion of Biomass and Energy
Conservation (PROBEC), which has trained
10 factory staff in the construction and
use of low energy stoves. Not only are
these stoves up to three times as efficient
as traditional cooking methods, but they
also contain more of the fuel combustion
emissions, which means that families breathe
in less of the harmful smoke.

Blue Gum, tea bushes, and banana
trees sharing field space at RSTGA.
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Above and Beyond...

Cafédirect sets the
bar with a new type
of Trading Model
Tea Pricing -- Fairer than fair in Uganda, Tanzania, and Kenya

Five years ago, as falling tea prices were affecting millions
across the developing world, Cafédirect once again raised
the bar in ethical standards by setting a minimum price
for tea. At that time, Fairtrade tea suppliers registered
with the Fairtrade Labelling Organisations (FLO) were only
paid a social premium for each kilo of tea, but there was
no guaranteed minimum price for the tea itself. This left
growers with little protection from market volatility and
barely enough income to cover their costs of production,
much less earn a stable income. Cafédirect’s novel pricing
system not only provided a premium, but also set a
minimum price.
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In 2006/07, Cafédirect extended its vision for
partnership even further, building upon the
success of its pioneering tea pricing model.
The first step of this change consisted
of three extensive consultations with tea
growers to present our proposals. These
were held in March 2007 in the Kenyan
capital, Nairobi, in Dar es Salaam in Tanzania,
and in Fort Portal in Uganda. “Discussions
were lively, interactive, and extremely
positive, with all of our partners recognising
the proposal as a fair and innovative one,”
said Wolfgang Weinmann, Cafédirect’s PPP
Manager. “Many of the participants also
recognised it as a useful development to
feed into their discussions with FLO on the
establishment of an international Fairtrade
minimum price for all Fairtrade tea growers.”
Based on the growers’ recommendations,
two significant improvements were made
to our tea pricing structure: a sustainability
allowance and a quality differential. The
sustainability allowance is aimed at providing
investment in the growers’ businesses and
is granted when market prices are low and
growers’ livelihoods are most threatened.
The quality differential raises the prices
we pay when quality improves and aligns
Cafédirect’s desire for high quality products
with growers’ desires to achieve higher
market prices as a reward for their efforts.

As a result of this review process the
minimum prices we pay for our tea
increased by an average of 8%. The
impact of the overall Cafédirect pricing
model could not be more timely. In real
economic terms, tea is cheaper today for
consumers than it was 30 years ago.
“From this part of the world we wish
that there were more businesses in the
developed world that trade like Cafédirect,”
said Charles Newe, Financial Controller of
the Kibena Tea Factory in Tanzania.
David Gachoki, former Marketing
Manager for our Kenyan tea partner KTDA,
adds “We find Cafédirect different from
any other company due to this unique
approach in operating such a participatory
partnership pricing system. Producers
feel valued and equally important in the
trading relationship.”

Did you know...

Including Fairtrade
premiums, in 2007,
Cafédirect paid on
average 47% above
market prices for
its tea
A tea plucker at the Michimikuru tea factory in Kenya.
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A New type of trading model

Silver Kasoro-Atwoki is the Chairman of
the Premium Committee at the Mabale
Tea Factory in Uganda. “More people
are growing tea and selling it to Mabale,
because they know that they get more,
and they understand it is helping the
community,” he said. “The money we have
received from the premium is small because
of the volume, but it is having tangible,
big results. This is attributed to Cafédirect
assistance, as they are the sole Fairtrade
organisation we trade with. That you go out
of your way to help us find new markets is
commendable. We are very grateful.”
Not surprisingly, FLO has recently
announced their decision to follow our lead
and to implement a FLO-wide minimum
price for tea in early 2008. Compared
alongside one another, the Cafédirect
pricing structure always pays more per kilo
over FLO’s structure, especially when market
prices are low. We view FLO’s move as a
compliment to our efforts and will continue
seeking out new ways to raise the bar and
make our vision of trade justice a reality.

CAFÉDIRECT TEA PURCHASES 2006-07
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1,000
£’000

Tea pricing, continued

Additional
47%

800
600
400
200
0

Non-Fairtrade

Cafédirect

Did you know...
Plucking “two leaves
and a bud” is one of the
most important steps
to ensure the highest
quality tea.
Two leaves and a bud, the key to picking high
quality tea.
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Electronic Tea Weighing System
at Igara - Technology in Support
of farmers

This year the Igara Tea Growers
Factory Ltd. became the first business
in Uganda to introduce an electronic
tea leaf weighing system. This system
will revolutionise the way more than
4,500 farmers gain income from
supplying tea to the factory.
Prior to the introduction of this system,
leaf clerks at local weighing centres would
use manual scales for measurement,
rounding numbers down to the nearest
kilogram, recording their numbers on paper,
and then manually inputting them into
computers at the factory. The farmer had
very little control over the process, with
human error and cheating commonplace.

Farmers get a more accurate weight for their
green leaf at the local collection centre.

The new Easyweigh system is more
efficient and, importantly, much more
transparent. An electronic scale is used to
record the exact weight of the tea, as well
as the time of day it is brought in by the
farmer. Back at the factory, the scale is then
connected to an information management
system, which transfers all the data into
appropriate formats so that the farmers
will be paid accurately, and managers can
easily track the numbers.
Aggrey Tumwesigye, the factory
employee charged with implementing
the Easyweigh system, reports that after a
one-year pilot programme, “farmers feel
more friendly to the clerks and the factory,
as this negative attitude to clerks cheating
them has been removed.” While the farmers
benefit from fairer and more transparent
payments, managers avoid the endless
processing of slips of paper, resulting
in a cost-effective and more profitable
organisation.

Tiny technology with a big impact.
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The Cafédirect
difference
Beyond volumes and premiums

In Spanish, ‘acompañamiento’ means something akin to ‘mutual
understanding’ or ‘commitment’. In essence, it means two parties working
together, accompanying each other forward. According to Norberto
Sarmiento, a founding member of the Asociación Provincial Cafetaleros
Solidarios San Ignacio (APROCASSI) coffee co-operative in Northern
Peru, ‘acompañamiento’ is exactly the word to describe their long-term
relationship with Cafédirect.
Speaking of APROCASSI’s development,
Norberto explains that “Cafédirect was
instrumental. They were our first buyer who
provided us with access to an international
market. During the difficult periods they
remained at our side, providing us with
essential training and support in order
to maintain our organic and Fairtrade
certifications.”
Fairtrade standards require buyers to
pay APROCASSI the higher of either the
Fairtrade minimum price or the market price
for their coffee. A social premium is added
on top of that.
But for Cafédirect,
that’s just the beginning.

Norberto Sarmiento, a founding member of APROCASSI.
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While other Fairtrade buyers’ involvement
ends there, Cafédirect’s trading model goes
further. Growers are at the heart of all that
we do. Growers own shares in the business
and sit on our Board. Our unique pricing
policy means we frequently pay more than
the Fairtrade price and in the past three
years we have reinvested on average 60%
of our profits into strengthening growers’

businesses and communities through
tailor-made support programmes.
It is through efforts such as these that
we build long-term, direct, and personal
relationships with our partners.
And what’s the result?
In 2007 we commissioned an independent
impact assessment to examine the results
of our partnership. APROCASSI was one of
the four organisations studied and impacts
were classified into four categories: financial,
commercial, organisational, and social.
Financially, Cafédirect stands out
as a consistent, long-term buyer, even
as APROCASSI has grown and secured
additional Fairtrade customers. Social
premiums, to which Cafédirect contributes,
have been used to fund a funeral assistance
programme, scholarships, and a small credit
fund, with the rest going to staff training.
The final report credits Cafédirect for making
funds available faster than other buyers and
for generating a substantial share of the
financial benefits from Fairtrade sales.
Commercially, Cafédirect has provided
critical credit access and market data, and
also played a key role in founding Rainforest
Trading, a Peruvian export group through
which APROCASSI markets its coffee. As the
report highlights, in addition to these direct
benefits to growers, “the benefits of economic
stability and ecological sustainability radiate
to the entire community.”
Organisationally, Cafédirect was
credited with “strong support of training
in business management and leadership”.
Over the years, the PPP has trained
APROCASSI employees in organisational
strengthening, market trends, coffee quality,
and price risk management. In the words
of Luis Fernando Peña Parra, APROCASSI’s
General Manager, “Cafédirect is different
from other buyers. It offers training and visits
the organisation at least once a year.”

Some of the various certifications gained by APROCASSI.

Outside of these formally organised
workshops, we also played a role in helping
APROCASSI through a financial crisis in 2005
when two containers of coffee were stolen
and the co-operative risked defaulting on its
contracts. While a strictly commercial buyer
might walk away, Cafédirect reached out to
help by advising on an emergency response
to encourage farmer members to loan
enough coffee to meet the co-operative’s
contracts.
Social impacts made up the final
component of the report. APROCASSI’s
relationship with Cafédirect is described
as both “empowering” and a “true
partnership”. Luis speaks to this dynamic
when he says, “Cafédirect has different
company policies… APROCASSI is a
member of this company, a shareholder…
this supports open communication.” This
type of positive communication spills over
into the entire community and APROCASSI,
in turn, has helped stop local residents
leaving the community to find work
elsewhere.
This impact assessment highlights how
much our partner groups value their unique
relationship with Cafédirect. Returning
to the words of Norberto, “the constant
‘acompañamiento’ is the most important.
It defines the uniqueness of our relationship
in comparison to other buyers.”
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Cafédirect sets the
bar for Partnership
the Michimikuru Tea Factory in Kenya
ENTERS THE FAIRTRADE MARKET

Cafédirect’s direct and personal relationships with
our grower partners go far beyond commercial links.
One of the most obvious examples is how we engage in
partnership with organisations before they are Fairtrade
certified, and before we can begin trading with them.

A view of the Michimikuru tea factory.
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Since mid-2005, Cafédirect’s PPP has
worked with the Michimikuru Tea Factory on
several initiatives, including a comprehensive
energy audit, HACCP food safety
certification, and FLO certification. We are
thrilled to report that over the course of
the last year Michimikuru became Fairtrade
certified, allowing us to buy our first
container of tea from them in July 2007.
	Adding to this success, Michimikuru has
adopted the HACCP food safety standard
and will be externally audited in early 2008.
Along with several of our other East African
tea partners, they have also reduced their
electricity consumption by 15% and begun
implementing a programme to better
manage timber usage.
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In The spotlig

CHIRINOS
Quality coffee and quality of life
Since it began operations in 1968,
the Peruvian coffee co-operative
C.A.C. La Prosperidad de Chirinos
has worked hard to guarantee a
top quality product.

Eber Tocto Bermeo in his new cupping laboratory.

As former General Manager Helgar
Zelada Vaqui describes, “In 2001 we
accepted all types of coffee. We did
not even differentiate between organic
and conventional, and as a result the
organisation made a loss as we did not
understand what it meant to grow coffee
for niche markets. This led us to start
differentiating in procuring organic and
conventional coffee and also assessing
the physical quality, for example humidity,
defects, and yields, of members’ coffee.”

Cafédirect’s PPP team has played a crucial
role in this evolution toward better quality
at Chirinos, beginning with a series of
coffee quality workshops in 2005. These
were followed with training in “cupping”
(coffee tasting) in 2006, and finally, in 2007,
the opening of its own cupping laboratory
staffed by a trained cupper.
This young man, Eber Tocto Bermeo,
just 26 years old, describes how he arrived
at his new post: “My parents are members
of C.A.C. La Prosperidad de Chirinos, so
since I was born, I have been involved in
coffee… My passion for cupping started
in wanting to know about our coffee. In
many ways the co-operative is a part of my
family. In gaining the cupping skills I am able
to assist farmer members to improve the
quality of their coffee … and to improve the
lives of members through better access to
special premium markets.”
Quality awareness among the
members of the co-operative has visibly
increased as the knowledge spreads
from cuppers to growers. Helgar claims
that this transformation clearly links “the
improvement of the quality of life of our
members with the improvement of the
quality of coffee that we receive from
members and sell on…” He eloquently
concludes, “If I had a chance to name
our coffee in the UK market, I would like
to call it ‘Puro Corazon’ – Pure Heart.
As it is created with the heart and effort
of all our farmer members, in the heart
of the Peruvian mountains, and delivered
to consumers with all our hearts.”
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PARTNERSHIPS

2007 Machu Picchu Beans
win Great Taste Award

This year Cafédirect and COCLA
(Central de Cooperativas Agrarias
Cafelateras), one of our coffee
partners in Peru, celebrated winning
the prestigious Gold Star in the 2007
Great Taste Awards. Cafédirect’s
organic Machu Picchu coffee beans
scooped the award for excellence
in taste, texture, and flavour.
Regarded as the food and drink industry
Oscars, The Guild of Fine Food’s annual
Great Taste Awards are the UK’s largest
independent evaluation of fine food
and drink, and are widely seen as the
benchmark for fine foods. Almost 4,500
foods were blind tasted by more than 400
experts during a full week in London, nine
days in Winchester, and nine days in the
Guild’s test kitchens in Somerset.
	Earning the Great Taste award
highlights the benefits of our direct,
personal approach in producing high

quality products. At its inception, Fairtrade
was a concept to bring about change through
trade, and those who first supported the
movement did so out of concern for the
farmers, without much thought for quality.
Today, due largely to our investment in
quality training and control, our products are
amongst the finest hot drinks you can buy.
Cafédirect’s organic Machu Picchu coffee
beans are grown on the lush foothills of the
Andes. They are expertly roasted to create
a full-bodied taste with a nutty flavour and
dark chocolate overtones.

EXCELLENCE EXEMPLIFIED

>> Our Special Selection Freeze Dried coffee was voted “Drink of the Week”
in the Saturday Express Magazine in March 2007
>> Our Organic Decaffeinated Freeze Dried coffee was voted “Best Buy”
in the Scottish Sunday Mail’s Mrs. Mop Tried and Tested decaf taste test
in July 2007
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Did you know...

The year in Sales: Expanding our range
and extending our lines

Retail remains our largest sales channel
with the major UK food retailers accounting
for nearly 65% of our total sales. It is also
our most challenging area. Fairtrade as a
category has grown more than 10% this
year, whilst the overall drinks category
has only seen 3-4% growth.
Cafédirect’s market share is being
challenged by an increasingly competitive
environment. Consumers with ethical
concerns have come to see Fairtrade as
a brand, rather than a certification, and have
been assuming that all Fairtrade companies
and products are the same. Without
question, one of the largest challenges we
face as an organisation in the coming year
is to do a better job of telling consumers
about how we go further than Fairtrade.
As we previously mentioned, we’ve
worked hard to bring to market new and
excellent products, and their quality has
been recognised with awards and accolades.

A selection from the Cafédirect range.

During the year, the
Daily Mail ran a blind
taste test with more
than a dozen brands.
Teadirect outshone its
competition, finishing
well ahead of Tetley’s,
PG Tips, Typhoo, Clipper,
Yorkshire Gold, and
Twinings.

As a result, despite the challenges,
we made good progress with our major
partners, who all increased the number
of Cafédirect products they stock.
After reviewing its consumer base,
Tesco found a growing desire for
Fairtrade goods and increased its
Cafédirect offering by another five
products. Morrison’s also expanded
our range, adding our Medium Blend,
Organic Decaffeinated, Machu Picchu
and Palenque Roast and Ground coffees,
and our Mount Elgon coffee beans.
Waitrose continued their support by
stocking two new Freeze Dried coffees.
During Fairtrade Fortnight we held a
sampling and an educational event at
Waitrose’s head office, giving us the
opportunity to talk directly to over 300
of their partners about Cafédirect. It was
so successful that we will be doing it
again during the 2008 Fortnight.
At the beginning of 2007, the Co-op
also reviewed their Fairtrade range. As a
result, we successfully secured three new
listings and increased the number of their
stores selling our products. In addition,
we’ve agreed a strategy to encourage
them to sell more Cafédirect products
this year.
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Partnerships

light

Partner spot

The Power of Partnership: From Employees to Consumers
The most powerful way to get people to understand how our direct,
personal, long-term partnerships are empowering growers is to let them
see it first-hand. This year, we liaised with Sainsbury’s, our second largest
customer, to let them see with their own eyes what makes us different,
from new product development to meeting the people whose lives are
changing because of Cafédirect.
In the words of Petrona López, a PRODECOOP
grower, “Cafédirect have been really important
to us. The payments have helped my family
move forward, from repairing the roof on my
house, which was expensive, to sending my
children to school. And with the little money left
over I can spend more time tending to my farm.”

Sainsbury’s employees prepare to taste coffee under
the supervision of KNCU’s Chief Liquorer Amen Mtui.

From the forests… In November 2007,
we escorted a journalist and photographer
from Sainsbury’s magazine to meet the
Nicaraguan coffee farmers behind our
new Cloud Forest Roast and Ground
coffee, which is exclusive to Sainsbury’s.
As delighted as we are here in the UK
to provide innovative and delicious new
offerings to the market, developing these
products is a matter of pride for the men and
women who grow and harvest the crops.
Working together with our partners
PRODECOOP and CECOCAFEN, we’ve
created the delicious new Cloud Forest
Roast and Ground coffee, which hit the
shelves in 100 Sainsbury’s stores in late
September and has been incredibly popular.
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…to the mountains. In September Sainsbury’s
‘Local Heroes’ -- a programme recognising
and rewarding the positive contribution their
employees make to charities and activities in
their local communities -- were given a unique
opportunity to visit Cafédirect’s partner
KNCU on the slopes of Mt. Kilimanjaro to see
first-hand the benefits of partnership.
The 18 winners saw for themselves the impact
of the direct relationship between Cafédirect
and KNCU, one of our coffee growing
partners in Tanzania, and how it benefits the
individual farmers and their communities.
John Furness of Bridgethorne, our sales
partner, escorted a group of Sainsbury’s
employees around the co-operative’s region
on the slopes of Kilimanjaro.
“The Local Heroes visit to Kilimanjaro
brought home to everyone on the trip the
positive effect Cafédirect is having on the
farmers’ lives,” John said. “I’ve been working
on sales with Cafédirect for seven years, but
actually meeting people who were benefiting
from my work and seeing how grateful they
were was very humbling.”

Celebrity wine expert
Olly Smith is already a
fan of Cloud Forest
Roast and Ground coffee.
“The grounds are a fab,
rich dark chocolate colour. And dark
chocolate is exactly what I smell in the
brew, together with a subtle woody tinge.
There’s also an extra clean, fresh overtone like a twist of citrus. This coffee’s pure,
bright subtle flavours work well, it’s a real
refresher. Yummy.”

Our Cloud Forest Roast and Ground
coffee, exclusive to Sainsbury’s.

Students from the Simon Bolivar school in the San Lucas
co-operative, one of PRODECOOP’s member communities.

Rosario Rodriguez and her husband Hernán,
members of PRODECOOP, picking coffee on their farm.

Nicaragua’s beautiful Northern mountains where
PRODECOOP’s members grow their coffee.
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It’s not just retail
growth in other channels

Cafédirect founding partners Oxfam,
Traidcraft, and Equal Exchange
continue to be important trading
partners, with sales growing by
2% in 2007. All three accounts
offered Cafédirect’s two new Freeze
Dried coffees, Intense and Special
Selection, and were the first route
to market for these products.
Sales in the Independent sector -- smaller,
local shops -- increased by 3% in 2007,
amidst tough trading conditions and
increased competition. This was due in large
part to customers asking their local store
managers to stock Cafédirect coffee, tea,
and drinking chocolate. If your local isn’t
already offering our products, make sure
to point them in our direction.
Out-of-home sales now account for
approximately 20% of our total sales, and
they have grown 33% since last year. Our
distributors provide a range of products
specifically designed for the out-of-home
industry, including hotels, restaurants,
coffee shops, vending operators, and
offices. New customers in Cafédirect’s
out-of-home sector over the past year
include Abode Group, Dundee University,
Eco Tech Centre Ltd, GlaxoSmithKline,
Google, Imperial College, Next retail
distribution centres, Q Hotel group,
Silverstone Races for the British Grandprix,
University of Cambridge Colleges,
University of Leeds, University of Sheffield,
University of Sussex, Windsor Races, and
the Wyboston Lakes Conference Centre.
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Did you know...
>> Cafédirect is the exclusive choice
at Emirates stadium, the home of
Arsenal football club
>> The John Lewis Partnership has
converted all its staff vending
machines to Cafédirect products
>> KPMG Financial Services have
switched to Cafédirect products
>> Cafédirect is featured at the
Odeon and Vue cinemas, and
international sports stadiums,
such as Nottinghamshire
Cricket Club
>> Cafédirect is served in offices
such as Channel 4 television,
Virgin Travel, Vodaphone, O2, BT
(Tea), Freshfields, Abode Group,
and numerous other locations.

An example from our delicious out-of-home range.
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Coffee samples lined up for tasting in
Gumutindo’s cupping laboratory.

ht

In The spotlig

Long Way Down,
Obi-Wan visits the Gumutindo coffee co-operative, Uganda
During Ewan McGregor and Charley Boorman’s intrepid 15,000 mile
motorcycle adventure from the village of John O’Groats in Scotland
to Cape Town in South Africa, they visited our grower partners at the
Gumutindo coffee co-operative, suppliers of our Mount Elgon gourmet
beans. Their coffee also goes into our Classic Freeze Dried and our
Organic Decaffeinated Freeze Dried blends.
Speaking about their visit, Ewan and
Charley said: “We are learning so much on
Long Way Down and what we come across
on the way. Our visit to the Gumutindo
co-operative has shown us the positive
impact that Fairtrade companies like
Cafédirect are having on growers’ lives.
We won’t look at our cappuccinos in the
same way again!”
They were able to see first-hand how
our direct, long-term partnership with the
Gumutindo coffee co-operative has helped
growers earn a decent living from their trade
and build a sustainable business.
In the words of Willington Wamameye,
General Manager of Gumutindo, “The
relationship between Cafédirect and the
grower partners does not stop at trade
alone. It is about developing together. It is
long-term; it is about strengthening weak
grower organisations, making them more
independent and able to make their way in
the market. We only have Gumutindo now
because of the Cafédirect philosophy of
developing together.”
Ewan and Charley’s visit was featured
on their television programme and in their
best-selling book.

Ewan and Charley
sipping Gumutindo’s
best brew.
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In The spotlig

OLIVA KISHERO,
Coffee farmer and Treasurer, Gumutindo coffee co-operative, Uganda.
Oliva travelled to Ireland to promote Cafédirect during Fairtrade Fortnight
2007. The magnetism of her personality, and the results of our partnership,
created a media storm. Almost overnight, Oliva became the face of
Fairtrade Fortnight. She appeared in every national newspaper, including a
story on the front page of the Irish Times, which boasts a readership of more
than 300,000. She also appeared on RTE’s The Afternoon Show, conducted
local radio interviews, visited several of the 52 voluntary Fairtrade Town
groups around the country, and spoke at CATEX, Ireland’s biggest and
longest established catering and hospitality exhibition.

Oliva visiting an Oxfam
store in Dublin.
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Cafédirect Overseas

Ireland

Last year was a fantastic one
for Cafédirect in Ireland. As we
mentioned on the previous page,
Oliva Kishero’s visit to the country
created a media storm, kicking
off a successful year.
Sales increased by 37% following a
very fruitful campaign to build awareness.
We worked with Murray Consultants
(our Irish public relations representatives)
to drive brand awareness for Cafédirect at
a key time for Fairtrade in Ireland. The result
was increased listings for the brand across
the trade, and particularly in Tesco Ireland.
In addition to the five Cafédirect listings
already on their shelves, Tesco are also
piloting a new Fairtrade section in store,
meaning double the exposure for Cafédirect.
These successes in the Irish market did
not go unnoticed. Cafédirect was featured
twice as “Brand of the week” in Retail
Intelligence, the top provider of instant news
within the retail trade industry. In addition,
Murray Consultants were short listed for the
PRCA Award for PR Excellence for their work
on the Cafédirect launch.

Did you know...
Cafédirect is the
leading Fairtrade brand
in Ireland and is the
only 100% Fairtrade
hot beverage brand
operating in this market.

Fairtrade banners fly over the streets of Dublin
during the 2007 Fairtrade Fortnight.
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Cafédirect Overseas, continued
Hong Kong

In last year’s Annual Report we
told you that the first two orders
had been placed for coffee and
chocolate in Hong Kong, and
that we were looking at this as
“a key growth area for next year
and beyond.”
Park’n’Shop, the largest retailer in Hong
Kong (with around half of the market), did
in fact place their first order in November
2006, with initial distribution of our Roast
and Ground blends and single origin
gourmet coffees, Wholebeans, Cocodirect
and Freeze Dried coffee. CEO Penny
Newman and Raymond Kimaro, a Cafédirect
Board member and General Manager of
KNCU in Tanzania, launched Cafédirect
in Hong Kong with a well attended
media conference.
The reception in Hong Kong has been
excellent, and in December 2007 Park’n’Shop
increased the Roast and Ground distribution
to almost twice as many stores. Customers
have been sending in unsolicited praise:

“I love Kilimanjaro, Machu
Picchu and also the medium and
rich roast. I think Cafédirect
can boost its sales as it is much
better than most of the coffee
products available in Hong Kong!”
Jeff Li, Cafédirect drinker, Hong Kong
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“A colleague and I are regular
drinkers of Cafédirect coffees.
We both consider Cafédirect to
be one of the very best quality
coffees on the market, and between
us we have tried dozens of brands
of gourmet coffee. In fact, I feel
quite strongly that brands such
as Cafédirect should be supported
and I have recommended it to many
friends. So to all the people at
Cafédirect, keep up the good work!”
Chris Fraser, Cafédirect fan, Hong Kong

John Sayer, Director General of Oxfam Hong Kong,
with Penny and Raymond at the launch event.

And beyond…
Last year we also saw our first sales to
Singapore. Our new distribution partner,
IDS, sells in to various retailers, and we feel
we now have a solid base to grow sales
there. In Slovakia, we’ve started selling small
amounts to Ten Senses, a social enterprise,
and we have also entered the Greek market
courtesy of Kalamea.

Looking forward…
In the coming year we are looking to further
expand our sales in Hong Kong. We plan
to launch Teadirect and Teadirect Earl Grey.
We are starting to use innovative sampling
techniques, public relations, and marketing
to reach out to new consumers in Hong
Kong. We also aim to find a distributor to
service organic and independent retailers,
non-governmental organisations and outof-home outlets, and also to build awareness
of Cafédirect’s great tasting products and
our social impacts.
We will also further develop our
presence in Singapore, grow sales with
Ten Senses and Kalemea, investigate new
markets in Asia, and continue to scope out
potential in some exciting spots around
the world.

Raymond Kimaro helping to
launch Cafédirect’s presence in
Hong Kong.

An example of our presence in the Hong Kong press.
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Employees

It’s all about partnership...

A big part of any relationship is time spent together. It supports learning,
breaks down barriers, improves communication, and creates the ties that
bind. We, of course, must balance this with practical realities -- travel is
expensive, and the environment is fragile.
But for our employees in London, and
for our grower partners abroad, travel is
essential. It aids the understanding of each
other’s concerns and realities, it increases our
knowledge, and it is crucial for recognising the
financial, social, and environmental effects of
our business. Apart from these trips by staff
and growers, we also escort journalists to see
our work in action and to enable them to tell
more people about what makes us different.
This year Cafédirect employees and
Board members visited Mexico, Peru,
Uganda, the Dominican Republic, Nicaragua,
Sri Lanka, Kenya, and Tanzania. These
countries represent 46% of our partners.
Additionally, we held two stakeholder events
to better understand growers’ views on
Cafédirect’s future and vision.

The first was in held in Long Beach,
California in May 2007 with 22
representatives from ten Latin American
coffee partners. The second was in Dar
es Salaam, Tanzania in June 2007 with
19 participants from Kenya, Uganda,
and Tanzania, representing 13 of our
tea and coffee partners.
Importantly, all of our grower partners
are visited at least once a year, if not by
us, then by one of our PPP partners Twin
Trading, Imani Development, Oxfam Sri
Lanka, and GTZ.
	The impact of these visits are
significant. Isla Mackay, formerly a Brand
Manager in our marketing team, went to
Africa with Cafédirect, and it changed
the course of her life. She explains:

Isla Mackay, former Marketing Brand Manager, and Ruth Hampson, former PA to the CEO, in a Michimikuru tea field.
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“An interest in travelling and other cultures
was what inspired me to look for a job in
the ethical sector and I was really pleased
to be offered a position at Cafédirect. Over
my four years with the company I was lucky
enough to meet some amazing people
from many different developing countries,
which really endorsed the feeling that I had
of wanting to make a real difference to the
lives of these people. A real highlight of
my time at Cafédirect was my visit to the
tea growers in Kenya, where I saw the huge
difference that Cafédirect is making both to
the lives of individuals and to communities.
It has inspired me to go to Africa to work at
the forefront of this type of work. I’m really
pleased to be moving to Kenya to project
manage a scholarship scheme there. I’m
hoping to look up some of the wonderful,
welcoming people I met on my trip while
I’m there!”

Emmanuelle Le Drian has been with
Cafédirect for five years, all of it working on
the supply chain for tea and cocoa. In March
2007 she went to visit farmers in Tanzania and
Uganda, hoping to better her understanding
of the logistical complexities on both sides.
“An important part of my role is to order
tea from our partners in East Africa, and it’s
my job to understand and solve the logistics
of getting it to ships and then to the UK,”
she said. “But going there and seeing things
opens up a whole different understanding.
It is so poor in some areas, the roads are
so bad, even getting water or trying to get
children to school can be challenging.”
“But that’s the work side. On the personal
side, I visited schools and water projects,
all of it paid for by the tea premiums. I saw
the impact Cafédirect has every time it orders
tea. And it’s not just an impact on the farmer,
but it’s their family, the village, the whole
community. It is a big impact.”

Cecilia Mwambebule, a tea grower and Rungwe Fair Trade
Fund Board Member, and Emmanuelle Le Drian, Cafédirect
Supply Chain Assistant, in a tea field at RSTGA in Tanzania.
Alex Georgiou, Cafédirect’s International
Business Co-Ordinator, roasts coffee with
Mr. Everest and Mr. Nyeela, tour guides at
KNCU’s Tourism Project.

33

The Environment at Home

MEETING our Environmental Responsibilities…

Energy Saving Week

Cafédirect were once again a proud supporter of Energy Saving Week
(22nd to 28th October 2007), working with the Energy Saving Trust to help
reduce energy consumption in the UK and to increase consumer awareness
about energy efficiency.
The overall aim of the Week was to get
people in the UK to help fight climate
change by committing to save just 20%
of the energy they use every day.
Cafédirect participated in a host of
activities to support this endeavour. On
Energy Saving Week’s Women’s Day,
Cafédirect partnered with the Women’s
Institute to demonstrate how networks,
clubs, and societies can cut their energy
consumption and reduce the devastating
effects of climate change.
Cafédirect also joined the Energy Saving
Trust’s ‘C8’ (Communities 8) network to
demonstrate the power of joining together
to address climate change. The C8 was
invited to join Prime Minister Gordon
Brown at 10 Downing Street to illustrate
that leaders of Britain’s most influential
communities had come together to pledge
their support to Energy Saving Week, using
their influence to promote collective action
to tackle climate change. Mr. Brown also
personally committed to saving his 20%!
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Ben Hitchcock (pictured below), the resident
expert at our tea blending partner Spicers,
chose the ECO Kettle as the most energy
efficient tea kettle in a “5 on Test” for the
Observer newspaper. “The biggest way for
you to reduce your own carbon footprints
and mind the planet is to boil only the
amount of water you’re going to use –
it saves water and energy.” Ben also
passed on top tips on how to make a
delicious, people and planet-friendly
cuppa. To learn more, visit:
www.guardian.co.uk/money/2007/oct/21/
observercashsection.theobserver

Leaders by example

At home…

The truth is, we operate a very
complex business model. Although
we may only be 34 people here
in London, our network of grower
partnerships spans 13 countries
across the globe, and that’s not
including the six countries where
our products are sold.

Within the walls of our office, we
continue to aim for recycling 80% of
our waste and have tracking systems
in place to calculate how much office
waste we produce and the amount
of energy and water we consume.

The process of trying to assess our
environmental impacts, let alone reduce
them, can seem daunting. For the last few
years we have teamed up with Forum for
the Future, the UK’s premier sustainable
development charity, to map out how best
to face the challenge. We obviously take our
environmental responsibilities seriously, and
we’re working to ensure that everything in
our immediate circle of control is done in the
best way possible. From here, we can work
outward in ever larger circles, embedding
environmental clauses in our contracts with
distribution and manufacturing partners,
empowering our grower partners, and
creating a coalition of awareness and action
within our greater realm of influence.

This information will provide us with
benchmark calculations of our carbon
emissions, so we can continually measure
and monitor their reductions.
Beyond the basic systems that we
are putting into place to allow for more
systematic reporting in the future, we also
undertook some smaller steps toward
improved environmental performance.
Perhaps the easiest of the changes was
setting all of our office printers to print
double-sided by default. Any printers that
were not capable of double-sided printing
were replaced.
This year we also changed our Teadirect
packaging from double to single-walled
boxes. As you can imagine, this small
decision resulted in big savings on the
amount of cardboard we use. The numbers
don’t lie: compared with the amount of
board used for our total sales in 2006 (when
the boxes were double-walled), our forecast
sales in 2007 (using single-walled boxes)
translated to a saving of 31,363 Kg of board.
Doing some basic calculation:

1,000 Kg = 1 tonne = 15 trees saved
15 x 31 .363 = 470 trees saved!
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CHANGES AT HOME

Environment continued

Spot the difference.

Yet another change was made to our
Teadirect boxes last year. We began using
our packaging to encourage consumers to
‘boil better’. Inspired by our sponsorship of
Energy Saving Week, our new packaging
asks tea drinkers to “Help the environment,
try not to boil more water than you need”.
While this may seem a small endeavour,
Forum for the Future’s audit of our
environmental impact revealed that the
total amount of energy used by our
consumers to boil water for our products
actually makes up a very significant
percentage of the total estimated CO2
created per cup – 70% for Roast
and Ground coffee and 93% for tea!

Did you know...
Smallholder tea growers
in Uganda rely entirely on
natural precipitation to
water their crops. Even the
slightest change in yearly
climate patterns can have
drastic results.
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IMPROVING EFFICIENCIES:
Minding the planet,
developing relationships

With a partnership network that
stretches around the world, incoming
shipments of raw materials that need
processing, and a network of retail
and foodservice partners requiring
distribution, our supply chain is
understandably complex. Cafédirect
has undergone tremendous growth
in the past five years, which has often
entailed creating bespoke solutions
to each challenge.
Heading into the year, our operational
objectives focused on three key areas:
increased efficiency to reduce supply
chain costs, improved stock management,
and greater levels of customer service
through higher product availability.
We were fortunate in June to welcome
Paul Rodin to the team as Head of Supply
Chain. Paul spent 30 years at Marks and
Spencer, and he has greatly accelerated
and focused our work. Under his guidance,
we have reviewed purchasing and
manufacturing practices to reduce cost and
drive efficiency across our retail and out-ofhome products. This has enabled greater
stock management and control, resulting
in end of year stock levels dropping 14%,
from £4.4m to £3.8m. We also moved to
a new manufacturer for our Freeze Dried
coffee at the beginning of the year to
improve our product range.

IN CONCLUSION

Objectives for the coming year…
Big changes are planned for 2007/08, aimed
at reducing road miles and distribution costs
and improving our carbon footprint. By their
very nature, the Supply Chain team is always
looking for improvements and efficiency
gains, and the current review includes:
>> Shipment of raw material
>>	Warehousing and distribution of raw
material and finished goods
>>	Product processing
>>	Packaging and other component costs
>>	Challenging current lead times and
stock cover requirements
>> Overhauling stock ordering procedures
to further reduce stock levels
So now what?
One of the most powerful truths about
Cafédirect is one of the most basic: simply
by continuing to exist and turn a profit,
we are proving that our innovative and
progressive business model works. Like any
innovator, there will be challenges to face,
minds to change, and sceptics to convert.
A big part of our success has been in how
we approach the market: what we do,
how we communicate our differences, and
how we explain to consumers why it matters.
In the coming year we will continue
to highlight our direct and personal
relationships with our grower partners,
and the benefits they bring to everyone:
consumers get the best tasting products,
while growers get the best possible prices
and invaluable support for their businesses
and communities.
We will also see the launch of our new
premium Gold Tea, the first Fairtrade Gold
Tea available in major retailers. It is another
example of how our trading model serves to
bring ever-increasing quality to life.

The Most Recommended
Brand in the UK

The cherry on top of a good
year’s work

Every year Millward Brown conducts
an annual independent survey of
28 different product categories,
ranging across thousands of brands.
Called their BrandZ survey, it asks
consumers to answer a standard set
of attitudinal and usage questions,
enabling the answers of the different
consumer groups to be compared
across different product categories.
We are delighted to report that,
in their results published in 2007,
Cafédirect came out as the most
recommended brand in the UK.
It is a very humbling recognition of
the relationships we have built
with our consumers.
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CAFÉDIRECT TURNOVER
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financial summary

Cafédirect’s turnover in 2006/07 was £22.3
million, up 3% on 2005/06. The strongest
growth continues to be in the out-of-home
sector, which grew 33% year on year to £4.6
million. Introduction of new products during
the year, such as vending hot chocolate and
organic espresso coffee beans, as well as
significant new contract wins by Cafédirect
and its distributors, will help the company
continue to achieve growth in this sector.
International sales also grew strongly, albeit
from a small base, reaching £0.7 million this
year compared with £0.4 million in 2006.
Trading conditions in other sectors,
primarily UK retail, continue to be tough and
sales fell by 4% year on year to £17.0 million.
The continuing proliferation of Fairtrade and
other ethical products, as well as retailers’
own-label Fairtrade offerings, contributes to
an increasingly competitive market. However,
against this market background, Cafédirect
was able to increase distribution of its products
in the major UK food retailers, with the
number of stores stocking Cafédirect products
now at an all-time high. The company also
achieved listings of a number of new products
during the year with the major retailers,
such as expansion of our range of Freeze
Dried coffees.
This year the company’s gross profit
improved by over £1 million to £7.2
million, and the company’s profit before
tax jumped sharply from £48,000 in
2005/06 to £705,000. This was achieved by
implementing an average price rise of 6% (to
cover increases in raw materials, processing
and transport/distribution costs), reducing
promotional spend, delivering improvements

in supply chain efficiency, the effect of the
weak US dollar, the effect of lower tea prices
from East Africa (following the drought
in 2005/06), and tightly controlling the
company’s own costs. The company’s net
cash balance also improved significantly
during the year, from £1.8 million at 30
September 2006 to £3.1 million at 30
September 2007. This performance was
driven by reductions in stock and debtors,
offset by payment of overdue creditors.
Looking forward, the company plans
to continue to expand its market share
in the fast growing out-of-home sector,
whilst continuing to invest in increasing
penetration in the retail market. Further
improvements will be pursued throughout
the supply chain whilst ensuring that the
company operates to its Gold Standard.
Cafédirect looks to provide a social
return as well as a financial return to
shareholders and, to this end, the company
provided substantial benefits to our
producer partners during the year. In
2006/07 Cafédirect paid nearly £1.0 million
above and beyond the market price for its
coffee, tea, and cocoa raw materials, and
growers additionally benefited by £1.3
million as a result of our unique Producer
Partnership Programme (including £0.7
million of matched funds raised by our
implementation partners, Twin Trading and
Imani Development). Since our public share
issue in 2004, the total spend by Cafédirect
on payments above the market price and
investments through our PPP has been more
than £9 million, and the PPP has represented
over 60% of the company’s profits.
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Social OVERVIEW -- PPP
Statistics across the PPP’s Impact Areas
Impact Areas

Number of groups
attending events,
workshops and training

Cafédirect
investment

Selected Outcomes

Governance &
Compliance

61

£86,606

Management &
Operational Skills
Quality
Improvement
Environmental
Initiatives

36

£98,800

60

£82,192

19

£102,239

Networking &
Joint Learning

96

£60,312

Coffee partners with FLO* corrective
actions decreased from 88% to 58%
since 2005/06
453 participants from 23 organisations were
trained in making better business decisions
Eight organisations adoped the HACCP**
food safety standard
16 groups participated in a comprehensive
study on the impacts of climate change on
smallholder growers
100% of Latin American and 85% of
African partners are aware of FLO
policy issues
Cafédirect visited four potential new
grower partners
An independent impact assessment
was conducted with four partners in
Latin America
95% of partner groups participated in joint
networking and strategy events in 2006/07
The implementaton of the PPP during
2006/07 was completed within budget

New Opportunities 4

£29,726

PPP Impact
Assessment

4

£25,087

Linking Producers
& Consumers
PPP Management

37

£25,467

SUB-TOTAL

317

£96,017
£606,446

Additional funds

£688,638

TOTAL

£1,295,084

*FLO = Fairtrade Labelling Organisations International				
**HACCP = Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Points		

% of PPP budget by Impact Area
Env

ironmental Initiatives (17%)
M
 anagement & Operational SKILLS (16%)
PPP

Management (16%)
G
 overnance & Compliance (14%)
Quality Improvement (14%)
 N
 etworking & Joint Learning (10%)
N
 ew Opportunities (5%)
L
 inking Producers & Consumers (4%)
PPP

Impact Assessment (4%)
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Social Overview -- Payments above market price
2006/07 Payments above market price by commodity and country
Country

Coffee

Tea

Cocoa

TOTAL

Tanzania

£215,501

£188,564

–

£404,065

Peru

£175,027

–

–

£175,027

Uganda

£20,730

£104,839

–

£125,569

Kenya

–

£112,626

–

£112,626

Mexico

£71,764

–

–

£71,764

Nicaragua

£43,853

–

–

£43,853

Dominican
Republic

£9,301

–

£6,511

£15,812

Costa Rica

£9,547

–

–

£9,547

Haiti

£7,325

–

–

£7,325

Rwanda

£2,946

–

–

£2,946

Sri Lanka

–

£2,178

–

£2,178

TOTAL

£555,994

£408,207

£6,511

£970,712

2006/07 Payments above market price
T
 anzania
P
 eru
U
 ganda
Kenya
Mexico
Nicaragua
Do
 minican Republic
Costa Rica
Haiti

Rw
 anda
S
 ri Lanka
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Did you know that even if we didn’t:
>> In the last three years, invest on average 60% of our
profits directly into the businesses and communities
of our growers
>> Introduce a new tea pricing policy, which includes
a sustainability allowance and a quality differential
>> Support grower organisations for up to two years
to help them achieve Fairtrade status, enabling
them to trade with us
>> Train growers to professionally taste their
own products, helping them to improve quality
and understand market value
>> Elect grower representatives to our Board of Directors
>> Enable part ownership of Cafédirect for growers
>> Introduce a unique minimum pricing policy for
gourmet and gourmet-organic coffees
…we would still be 100% Fairtrade.
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Cafédirect would like to thank our grower
partners, employees, shareholders, our
implementation partners Twin Trading and
Imani Development, and our customers for
their support during the year.
Our thanks also go to the team at Cafédirect
that helped put this report together, particularly
Whitney Kakos, our PR partners FML Public
Relations and Murray Consultants, and the
crew at This Way Up design. We welcome your
thoughts on this report and suggestions for
future editions.

The inside pages of this report are printed on 100% post consumer
reclaimed material. The cover is recyclable. Printed using vegetable inks.
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Cafédirect plc
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors present their report and financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2007.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the company in the year under review was that of brand management and trading in
Fairtrade products under the brand names Cafédirect, Teadirect and Cocodirect.
No significant change in the nature of these activities occurred during the year.
BUSINESS REVIEW
Cafédirect’s turnover in 2007 was £22.3 million, up 3% on 2006. The strongest growth continues to be in the
“out-of-home” sector which grew 33% year on year to £4.6 million. Introduction of new products during the
year, such as vending hot chocolate and organic espresso coffee beans, as well as significant new contract wins
by Cafédirect and its distributors will help Cafédirect to continue to achieve growth in this sector. Overseas
sales also grew strongly, albeit from a small base, and reached £0.7 million this year compared with £0.4 million
in 2006.
Trading conditions in other sectors, primarily UK retail, continue to be tough and sales fell by 4% year on year
to £17.0 million. The continuing proliferation of Fairtrade and other ethical products, as well as retailers’ own
label Fairtrade offerings, contributes to an increasingly competitive market. Against this market background
Cafédirect was able to increase distribution of its products in the major UK food retailers, with the number of
stores stocking Cafédirect products now at an all-time high. The company also achieved listings of a number of
new products during the year with the major retailers, such as expansion of our range of freeze-dried coffees.
The company continued to invest in promotional activities with retailers where it was felt there was the
opportunity to increase the rate of sale of Cafédirect products from the supermarket shelves.
The company undertook a major corporate and product rebranding programme during the year, introducing a
new company logo and new packaging for all products. This emphasised our relationship with the producers and
consumers and is represented by the “virtuous circle” logo. It has helped indicate that all our products come
from Cafédirect, and hence supports cross-selling across the product range. The company spent £0.5 million on
this rebranding programme.
The company placed significant emphasis in 2007 on reversing the decline seen last year in its gross margin
percentage (29% in 2006, down from 33% in 2005). This was successfully achieved, with the gross margin
percentage improving to 32% in 2007. As a result, gross profit improved by over £1 million to £7.2 million. An
average price increase of 6% on Cafédirect products, implemented in October 2006 to cover increases in raw
materials, processing and transport/distribution costs, contributed to this improvement. Reduction in
promotional spend, the weak US dollar, improvements in supply chain efficiency and lower tea prices from East
Africa following the drought in 2006 were also factors.
Significant emphasis was placed during 2007 on controlling the level of administration costs of the company.
Costs in the underlying UK business (i.e. excluding the discretionary PPP programmes undertaken with
producer groups, export development costs and costs incurred on an international expansion project) were
reduced from £5.6 million to £5.5 million. Further analysis of all the administration costs is shown in note 3 to
the accounts.
As a result of the above factors, the company’s profit before tax jumped sharply from £48,000 in 2006 to
£705,000 this year. The company’s net cash balance also improved significantly during the year, from £1.8
million at 30 September 2006 to £3.1 million at 30 September 2007, as shown on page 18. This performance
was driven by reductions in stock and debtors, offset by payment of overdue creditors.
Looking forward, the company plans to continue to grow its market share in the fast growing “out-of-home”
sector, whilst continuing to invest to increase penetration in the retail market. Further improvements will be
pursued throughout the supply chain whilst ensuring that the company operates to its Gold Standard.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
The company’s key financial performance indicators, which are closely monitored throughout the year and
measured against pre-set targets, include:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Sales values, analysed by key sectors such as UK retail, out-of-home and international;
Gross profit, both in absolute terms and as a percentage of sales;
The level of administration costs, looking at the ongoing UK business separately from other costs;
Operating profit and profit before tax;
The level of working capital employed in the business, both in absolute terms and as a percentage of
sales; and
Cash generated by the business.

The company’s performance in 2007 against these indicators is set out in the Business Review section above.
In addition, the company has a number of other key performance indicators, with the company’s performance
against these indicators sometimes being called the company’s “social return”. These include:
•
•
•

The amounts paid by Cafédirect for its coffee, tea and cocoa raw materials over and above market
prices. These amounts include, but are not restricted to the Fairtrade premiums paid by the company;
The amount invested in Cafédirect’s unique PPP (Producer Partnership Programmes); and
The volume of coffee, tea and cocoa raw materials purchased from producer partners.

The company’s performance in 2007 against these indicators is set out in the ‘Benefits to our Grower Partners’
section below.
BENEFITS TO OUR GROWER PARTNERS
As a Fairtrade company, Cafédirect meets all the requirements laid down by the Fairtrade Labelling
Organisation (FLO), including the payment of Fairtrade premiums for coffee, tea and cocoa. However,
Cafédirect’s policy is to go above and beyond the minimum Fairtrade requirements and this policy applies to
100% of the company’s products. In particular:
•
•

For coffee, Cafédirect pays the higher of the Fairtrade minimum price and the market price + 10%. The
company has also set its own minimum price for gourmet coffees and gourmet organic coffees above
the Fairtrade minimum;
For tea, as well as paying the Fairtrade premium Cafédirect has set its own minimum price. This was
not a requirement under FLO standards in 2007.

In 2007, including Fairtrade premiums Cafédirect paid nearly £1.0 million more than the market price for its
coffee, tea and cocoa raw materials. Whilst still being significant, this is less than last year’s total of £1.7
million. The decrease is due to the market price of green coffee beans increasing between 2006 and 2007 as well
as the volume of Cafédirect purchases being lower in 2007 than 2006 (see below). Over the last three years,
Cafédirect has paid £4.3 million more than the market price for its raw materials.
In addition, Cafédirect’s most distinctive difference is its Producer Partnership Programmes (PPP). These
programmes primarily consist of business development programmes tailored to the needs of the producer
organisations which supply the company with the raw materials for our coffee, tea and cocoa products. They
include marketing, quality control, crop husbandry and crop diversification projects. This is a discretionary
investment by Cafédirect aimed at strengthening the producer organisations in line with the Company’s Gold
Standard. It ensures Cafédirect product quality is second to none, and it is over and above Fairtrade terms.
The company invested £0.6 million in PPP programmes during the year. Over the last three years, Cafédirect
has invested £1.9 million (60% of its profits) in PPP. In addition, a further £0.7 million was raised without
additional cost to the company by our PPP implementation partners, Twin and Imani, as well as through
Cafédirect’s own fund-raising efforts. These funds were raised on the basis of 50:50 matching with Cafédirect’s
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PPP spend. The total benefit of £1.3 million for our producer partners in 2007 compares with £1.2 million in
2006.
Unfortunately, mainly due to a significant overstocking of raw materials at 30 September 2006 the volume of
coffee, tea and cocoa raw materials purchased from our producer partners during the year was lower than in
2006, by around 30%. Coffee purchases in 2007 totalled 2,450 tonnes, tea 955 tonnes and cocoa 50 tonnes. Raw
material stocks at 30 September 2007 are back to more normal levels.
RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The company seeks to mitigate exposure to all forms of risk, both internal and external, where practicable, and
to transfer risk to insurers, where cost-effective. This approach is operated under the company’s Gold Standard
which includes within its buying and trading policy the statement that Cafédirect will “manage trade in ways
that minimise risk to producers and their organisations”.
The directors consider that the principal risks that face the company are as follows:
•
•

•

•

The company buys raw materials from small and disadvantaged growers, often located in remote and
under-developed regions of the world. The company mitigates this risk by holding appropriate levels of
stock in the supply chain;
The company is exposed to currency movements in that it buys most of its raw materials in US dollars,
processes its freeze-dried coffee in Euros and sells most of its finished products in pounds sterling. The
company uses foreign exchange forward contracts to mitigate this risk as set out in note 23 to the
accounts;
The company buys raw material commodities such as coffee, tea and cocoa, the market prices of which
are quoted on international commodity exchanges. Any increases or volatility in prices and shortages in
supply can affect the company’s performance. The company mitigates this risk by buying commodity
options as appropriate - whilst still paying the producer the full market price; and
A significant proportion of the company’s revenues are derived from the UK retail sector, and therefore
inevitably come from a relatively small number of customers. The company is mitigating this risk by
developing sales in other sectors, such as out-of-home and international, and also takes out credit
insurance where appropriate.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The results for the year are set out on page 16.
Although the company's results for the year showed a significant improvement on 2006, profit before tax in
2007 represented only 3% of turnover. Taking into account the company’s Gold Standard, an assessment of the
current risk profile and the company’s future investment plans, the directors are not recommending the payment
of a dividend for the year. The retained profit for the year, amounting to £499,590 will be transferred to reserves
(2006: £31,427).
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
The directors who served during the year and their beneficial interests in the share capital of the company were
as follows:

Krishna Gopala (Chair)
Raúl del Aguila
Graham Fish
Raymond Kimaro
Fiona McAnena
Tim Morgan
Lazaro Mwakajila
Penny Newman (Chief Executive)
Richard Scanlon (Finance Director)
Geoff Tudhope

2007
No of shares
1,700
500
1,000
1,500
3,000

Appointed 6 December 2006

Deceased 25 October 2006

2006
No of shares
1,700
500
1,000
1,500
3,000

There have been no changes in the interests of directors between 30 September 2007 and the date of this report.
Penny Newman, Chief Executive, has announced her intention to leave the company as set out in the Report of
the Nominations and Remuneration Committee.
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS
As at the date of this report, the company is aware of the following shareholdings:
Number of shares
907,500
905,000
903,000
903,000
440,000
322,650

Twin Trading Ltd
Traidcraft plc
Equal Exchange Trading Ltd
Oxfam Activities Ltd
Cafédirect Producers Ltd
Rathbone Nominees

% of total
10.1
10.1
10.0
10.0
4.9
3.6

No other shareholder owns more than 3% of the company’s shares. The company limits the number of shares in
which a shareholder has an interest to a maximum of 15% of the company’s issued Ordinary shares.
ANALYSIS OF ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2007
Number of shares
1 – 500
501 – 1,000
1,001 – 5,000
5,001 – 10,000
10,001 and over

Number of
shareholders
2,728
1,163
536
31
30
4,488

% of total Number of shares
shareholders
60.8
1,102,550
25.9
1,095,150
11.9
1,465,900
0.7
275,400
0.7
5,056,400
100.0
8,995,400

% of total
shares
12.2
12.2
16.3
3.1
56.2
100.0

GUARDIANS’ SHARE
There is one Guardians’ share, held by the Guardian Share Company Ltd. This company is equally owned by
the four founders of Cafédirect (Equal Exchange Trading Ltd, Oxfam Activities Ltd, Traidcraft plc and Twin
Trading Ltd) and Cafédirect Producers Ltd, and has the right to nominate a director to the company’s Board. Its
consent is also required for the appointment of the Chair of the Board and for any changes to the company’s
Gold Standard.
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POLITICAL AND CHARITABLE DONATIONS
No political or charitable donations were made during the year.
EMPLOYEES
It is our policy to keep our employees informed, through regular team meetings and other communications, on
our performance and on matters affecting them as employees.
It is also our policy to give proper consideration to applications for employment received from people with
disabilities, and to give employees who become disabled every opportunity to continue their employment.
Share Incentive Plan
There were no awards made this year.
Pensions
All employees are entitled to join the company’s defined contribution pension scheme after completing three
months’ service. The company contributes an amount equal to 9% of basic salary provided the employee
contributes at least 1% of their basic salary. The pension advisor was changed during the course of the year as
discussed further on page 13.
Healthcare
The company operates a private healthcare scheme which all employees are entitled to join after completing 3
months’ service.
PAYMENT OF SUPPLIERS
As part of our Fairtrade commitment, in addition to ensuring that our producer partners have access to necessary
pre-finance, we aim to pay the balance of money owed within three working days of receipt of invoice,
supported by a bill of lading. For all other purchases, it is our policy to agree payment terms with suppliers
when negotiating business transactions and to pay suppliers in accordance with contractual or other legal
obligations. Trade creditors at 30 September represented 26 days (2006: 46 days) of annual purchases.
FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK
The company operates extensively in overseas currencies. As a result, the company enters into foreign currency
forward contracts when considered appropriate. At 30 September 2007 a proportion of the company’s future
currency requirements were covered by such contracts. As required by FRS 13 the fair value of the exchange
rate risk hedge has been disclosed in note 23.
STATEMENT AS TO DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO THE AUDITOR
The directors who were in office on the date of approval of these financial statements have confirmed, as far as
they are aware, that there is no relevant audit information of which the auditor is unaware. Each of the directors
have confirmed that they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as directors in order to make
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that it has been communicated to the
auditor.
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AUDITORS
The directors, having been notified of the cessation of the partnership known as Baker Tilly, resolved that Baker
Tilly UK Audit LLP be appointed as successor auditor with effect from 1 April 2007, in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act 1989 s26(5). Baker Tilly UK Audit LLP has indicated its willingness to
continue in office.
A resolution to reappoint Baker Tilly UK Audit LLP as auditor will be put to the members at the Annual
General Meeting.
By order of the Board

Stuart Raistrick
Secretary
11 January 2008
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CODE OF BEST PRACTICE
The Board recognises that the New Combined Code on Corporate Governance, published by the Financial
Reporting Council in July 2003, represents best practice for public companies and is committed to working
towards compliance with the code in a manner that is appropriate to the company’s size and structure.
THE BOARD
At 30 September 2007, in line with the structure put in place at the time of the public share issue in 2004, the
Board consisted of:
Non executive chair
Chief executive
Finance director
2 Independent non executive directors
2 Producer directors
1 Guardian nominee director
1 Consumer director.
Each year, one third of the eligible directors retire, in rotation, at the Annual General Meeting in accordance
with the company’s articles of association. Accordingly, Krishna Gopala and Fiona McAnena retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election. The selection of new directors is delegated to the Nominations and
Remuneration committee, which makes recommendations to the Board. Cafédirect Producers Ltd and the
Guardian Share Company Ltd nominate the producer directors and the Guardian nominee director respectively.
THE DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Penny Newman (51) joined the company as Managing Director in 1999 and was appointed as Chief Executive
in 2003. Penny has a wealth of business strategy and marketing experience built up with a number of FMCG
companies including Avon, Fabergé, Wella and the Body Shop. Penny was appointed as a Social Enterprise
ambassador in 2007.
Richard Scanlon (45), who is a Chartered Accountant, was appointed Finance Director in September 2006.
Richard was previously Business Development Director of Gatwick Airport and spent over 11 years with TI
Group plc, now part of Smiths Group plc.
NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Krishna Gopala (45) was appointed Chair in June 2005. Krishna brings a wealth of international business
experience from time spent with entrepreneurial and Fortune 100 companies and the venture capital industry.
He also brings a strong commitment to the principles of Fairtrade.
Geoff Tudhope (57) was appointed a director in 2000, and was appointed chair of the Nominations and
Remuneration Committee in 2003. Following a career in ICI plc, Geoff is now a business mentor to CEOs with
Merryck & Co, a founder of the Globally Responsible Leadership Initiative and an advisor to the World’s
Children’s Prize for the Rights of the Child.
Graham Fish (53) was appointed a director in 2006. Graham has over 25 years experience in the UK consumer
food sector, and until recently was Group Commercial Director of Exel plc.
Guardian nominee director
Tim Morgan (43) was appointed as the Guardians’ nominee director in 2003 and as Chairman of the Audit
Committee in 2005. Tim is a Chartered Accountant, and until recently was Finance Director of Traidcraft plc.
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Producer directors
Raúl del Aguila (48) was appointed a director in 2004. Raúl is a director of the COCLA co-operative in Peru,
producing coffee and cocoa.
Raymond Kimaro (63) was appointed a director in December 2006. Raymond is the Chair of Cafédirect
Producers Ltd and General Manager of the coffee growers co-operative at Kilimanjaro known as KNCU.
Consumer director
Fiona McAnena (43) was appointed a director in November 2004. Fiona heads up the innovation team at
PepsiCo UK & Ireland, is a director of the Environment Council and is on the Board of the Marketing Society.
The Board is responsible for setting strategy, approving budgets, capital expenditure, investments and
disinvestments. A report, in English and Spanish, summarising the company’s financial and operational
performance is sent to the directors each four-week period. The aim is to provide each director with information
seven days in advance of Board meetings to enable the directors to make informed judgements on matters
referred to the Board. The Board meets at least four times a year.
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
The Board has established a Nominations and Remunerations committee, consisting entirely of non-executive
directors and their terms of reference, and details of each director’s remuneration, are explained on pages 12 to
14.
The report of the Nominations and Remuneration committee will be an item on the agenda of the Annual
General Meeting in 2008.
SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
The Board invites all shareholders to participate at the Annual General Meeting and provides the Annual Report,
Company announcements and other information on the website at www.cafedirect.co.uk.
If you have any questions about: transfer of shares, change of name or address, lost share certificates, death of a
registered holder of shares, or any other query relating to the company’s shares, please contact the Registrar on
0845 600 9662, or at the following address:
Brewin Dolphin Securities
P O Box 512
National House, 36 St Ann Street
Manchester
M60 2EP
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). The financial
statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit
or loss of the company for that period. In preparing those financial statements, the directors are required to:
a.

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

b.

make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
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c.

state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

d.

prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the company and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply
with the requirements of the Companies Act 1985. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
INTERNAL CONTROL
The directors have responsibility for the company’s system of internal control and for reviewing its
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and can only provide reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The directors confirm that the process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the
company is in accordance with the Turnbull Guidance, was in place throughout the accounting period and up to
the date when the financial statements were approved, and is regularly reviewed by the Board.
Management are responsible for the identification and evaluation of significant risks and for the design and
implementation of appropriate internal controls. These risks are assessed on an ongoing basis and may be
associated with internal or external factors. Management report regularly to the Board on the key risks and on
the way that these are managed, and also report to the Board on any significant changes to the company’s
business and on any risks associated with these changes. There is active Board involvement in assessing the key
business risks facing the company and determining the appropriate course of action for managing these risks.
The directors have established procedures designed to provide an effective system of internal control, with the
following features:
-

budgetary control over all departments, measuring performance against pre-determined targets on a fourweekly basis
regular forecasting and reviews covering trading performance, assets, liabilities and cash flow
delegated limits of authority covering key financial commitments including capital expenditure and
recruitment
identification and management of key business risks

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed the effectiveness of the company’s system of internal
control during the year.
GOING CONCERN
The directors confirm that, after making appropriate enquiries, they have a reasonable expectation that the
company has adequate resources to continue operating for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the directors
continue to adopt the going concern basis in the preparation of the accounts.

Stuart Raistrick
Company Secretary
11 January 2008
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
Committee members during the year have been:
Tim Morgan
Stuart Raistrick

Guardian nominee Director
Company Secretary

Richard Scanlon, who replaced Phil King as Finance Director in September 2006, provides support and
information to the Committee, but in keeping with good practice is not formally a member. This means that the
ongoing membership of the Committee is two people, which is considered adequate for a company of the size
and scale of Cafédirect plc. Both members have considerable experience of financial reporting and of risk
management. Looking ahead, the Board would like to have a third formal member of the Audit Committee, to
add further skills and resilience to this group, but at present there are not suitable non-executive directors
available within the Cafédirect Board to undertake this role.
The purpose of the Audit Committee is to establish formal and transparent arrangements regarding financial
reporting and internal control principles and to maintain an appropriate relationship with the Company’s
auditors.
Our aim as a Committee is to ensure compliance with all recommendations of Corporate Governance as they
apply to a company of our size. We meet at least three times a year and our key areas of activity include:
•
•
•
•

Monitoring the integrity of the financial statements
Leading the Board’s oversight of the risk register
Working with the external auditors and monitoring the ongoing audit, legal and banking requirements of the
company
Working with the Nominations and Remuneration committee to create the framework and approach for the
Board Capability Audit

The need for an Internal Audit function was reviewed and considered inappropriate at this stage. The
requirement will be reassessed next year in the context of the company’s continued growth.
During 2007, the Audit Committee focused on continued implementation of the company’s new accounting
system as this was further refined and developed. Good progress was made, with the system facilitating a stepchange in management information provided. Costs during the year were in line with budget.
The Audit Committee will lead the next Board Capability audit taking place in the first quarter of 2008, the
results of which will be published in next year’s accounts.
Tim Morgan
Chair – Audit Committee

11 January 2008

Page 11

Cafédirect plc
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

REPORT OF THE NOMINATIONS AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
Committee members during the year have been:
Geoff Tudhope (Chair)
Graham Fish
Raymond Kimaro (from 6 December 2006)
Lazaro Mwakajila (to 25 October 2006)
Elizabeth Smith

Independent non-executive director
Independent non-executive director
Non-executive producer director
Non-executive producer director
Secretary (Cafédirect’s HR manager)

The Committee’s purpose is to oversee on behalf of the Board formal and transparent arrangements in the spirit
of the Cafédirect Gold Standard and the Guardian Share Company regarding the appointment, development and
reward of the Executive Team and the Board (excluding remuneration of non-executive Directors).
Our aim is to comply with all provisions of the Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 and the
Combined Code as they apply to a company of our size. The committee met formally three times in the past
year.
NOMINATIONS
Key activities:
•

Together with the Audit Committee, recommend a Board capability template of skills, knowledge,
experience and mindset needed to help guide the strategy. The template is reviewed every three years and
the Board self-assesses performance annually.

•

Identify, and nominate for approval of the Board, candidates to fill Board vacancies. The only change to the
Board membership in the past year was the appointment of Raymond Kimaro as a non-executive producer
director in December 2006 following the death of Lazaro Mwakajila in October. Raymond is General
Manager of the coffee growers co-operative at Kilimanjaro known as KNCU. Geoff Tudhope deputised for
Krishna Gopala as Chair of the Board when Krishna was ill from May to September 2007.

•

Identify, and recommend to the Board, succession plans for directors and oversee succession plans for the
remaining Executive Team members. There has been a significant turnover of staff in the past year,
including at the Executive Team level. There have been a variety of planned and unplanned reasons and in
all cases the learning has been incorporated into selecting successors. The UK Managing Director, Clive
Gardiner, resigned in May 2007 after one year at Cafédirect, returning to the music industry. Penny
Newman combined the role into her overall responsibilities. Leadership has been strengthened in Supply
Chain with the appointment of Paul Rodin and Corporate Communications with the appointment of Zachary
Dominitz.

•

During 2007, Penny Newman signalled her intention to step down as Chief Executive and leave the
company on 15 February 2008. The Nominations and Remuneration Committee has been actively involved
in identifying a successor for Penny and, together with the Chairman, has been involved in ensuring a
transition plan has been developed. At the time of writing, an executive recruitment firm has completed an
in-depth search for candidates and a high quality short list has been drawn up.

REMUNERATION
Key activities:
•

Determine and agree with the Board the policy, externally benchmarked, for the remuneration of the CEO,
Finance Director and remaining Executive Team members. This sets the framework for considering
remuneration for all employees. The search for new Executive Team members has demonstrated that a
hybrid remuneration policy of benchmarking between the not-for-profit sector and mainstream SMEs is
understood and felt appropriate by high calibre recruits. However it is also clear that we should review our
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•
•

•

positioning in this hybrid scale as feedback shows we are consistently on the low end. This review will be
undertaken in 2008.
Determine the remuneration of the Chair of Cafédirect. The remuneration of all other non-executive
directors is determined by the Chair of Cafédirect and the executive members of the Board.
Approve the design of any performance related pay schemes and share incentive plans. A new senior
executive annual bonus scheme has been designed (up to 30% of basic salary) based on a gain sharing
philosophy to enhance both non-financial and financial performance. It has been piloted this past financial
year with a maximum possible payout of 15% of basic salary.
Determine the policy and scope for pension arrangements for each executive director and the remaining
members of the Executive Team. Again, this sets the framework for considering pension policy for all
employees. The pension policy for all staff was reviewed in 2007. It was concluded we should move to a
stakeholder pension with the following design criteria:
o Flexibility (portability for staff to match different life styles)
o Cost effectiveness
o Felt fairness as part of the overall reward package
o Ease of use by employees and ease of administration
o Transparency
Towry Law have been appointed as Pension Advisor and funds transferred to the Friends Provident
Stewardship Funds. The company contribution has been retained at 9% of basic salary subject to a
minimum employees’ contribution of 1%.

Executive Directors
Our objective is to ensure that executive directors are fairly rewarded for their contribution to the overall
performance of the company, and that their remuneration is set in such a manner to attract, retain and motivate
suitable individuals with due regard to the effect on the operating costs of the company. Remuneration is
benchmarked to a hybrid portfolio of like businesses in both the social enterprise and mainstream sectors.
Basic entitlements:
Each executive director has a service contract which is subject to a notice period of 3 months.
Each executive director is paid a basic salary subject to review on 1 October each year. In addition, the
executive directors are entitled to a share in an annual senior executive bonus as mentioned above. The benefit
of private medical insurance is available to all employees, including executive directors.
Pension provision:
Executive directors are entitled to join the company’s defined contribution pension scheme after completing
three months’ service. The company contributes an amount equal to 9% of basic salary provided the employee
contributes at least 1% of their basic salary.
Share Incentive Plan (SIP):
There were no awards made during the year.
CHAIR AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ FEES
The remuneration of the Chair and the non-executive directors is at levels intended to attract individuals of an
appropriate calibre and commitment.
The Chair and the non-executive directors do not have service contracts. Each non-executive director receives
an annual fee plus a fee for acting as chair of a Board committee. The Chair and the non-executive directors are
not entitled to participate in the company’s share incentive plan, or any performance pay scheme or pension
scheme and would not receive any compensation in the event of early termination.
The fees of the Chair and the non-executive directors remain at the levels set with effect from 1 October 2005.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Krishna Gopala (Chair)
Raúl del Aguila
Graham Fish
Raymond Kimaro *
Fiona McAnena
Tim Morgan
Penny Newman (Chief Executive)
Richard Scanlon (Finance Director)
Geoff Tudhope

Fees
£
15,000
7,500
7,500
6,250
7,500
8,500
8,500
60,750

Salary
£
74,700
57,276
131,976

Bonus
£
15,000
17,287
32,287

Pension
contribs
£
6,723
4,735
11,458

Other
benefits
£
1,088
9,667**
10,755

Total
£
15,000
7,500
7,500
6,250
7,500
8,500
97,511
88,965
8,500
247,226

* appointed 6 December 2006
** includes £8,000 relocation allowance
Fees for Raúl del Aguila and Raymond Kimaro were paid to their employers, the COCLA coffee and cocoa cooperative in Peru and the KNCU coffee co-operative in Tanzania, respectively.
In addition to the above, the Board asked Krishna Gopala and Geoff Tudhope to work on an international
expansion project during 2006 and 2007. Fees totalling £50,750 (2006: £43,750) and £26,575 (2006: £4,925)
respectively have been earned by Messrs. Gopala and Tudhope in respect of this work. As the project has now
been put on hold, the costs (which were included in the balance sheet as ‘Other debtors’ at 30 September 2006)
have been expensed in 2007 resulting in a charge to the profit and loss account of £126,000. These costs are
included within Administration expenses. Amounts totalling £63,500 (2006: £48,675) were payable at the yearend and are included in creditors.

Geoff Tudhope
Chair – Nominations and Remuneration Committee

11 January 2008
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CAFÉDIRECT PLC
We have audited the financial statements on pages 16 to 29.
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 235 of the
Companies Act 1985. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and
company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice) are set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.
Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and are properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you whether in our opinion the
information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements.
In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have
not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law
regarding directors’ remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.
We read other information contained in the Annual Report, and consider whether it is consistent with the
audited financial statements. This other information comprises the Corporate Governance Statements. We
consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.
Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the
Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and
judgements made by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting
policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In
forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial
statements.
Opinion
In our opinion
−
the financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice, of the state of the company’s affairs at 30 September 2007 and of its
profit for the year then ended and have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
1985; and
−
the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements.

Registered Auditor
Chartered Accountants
2 Bloomsbury Street
London WC1B 3ST
11 January 2008
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PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
for the year ended 30 September 2007

Notes

2007
£

2006
£

TURNOVER

1

22,333,144

21,592,472

Cost of sales

2

(15,093,229)

(15,360,557)

7,239,915

6,231,915

(6,583,661)

(6,302,301)

Gross profit
Administration expenses

3

OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS)

656,254

(70,386)

Investment income
Interest payable

4
5

81,295
(32,482)

132,647
(13,876)

PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAXATION

6

705,067

48,385

Taxation

8

(205,477)

(16,958)

17

499,590

31,427

PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES AFTER TAXATION

The operating profit for the year arises from the company’s continuing operations.
No separate Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses has been presented as all such gains and losses
have been dealt with in the profit and loss account.
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BALANCE SHEET
30 September 2007
Notes

2007
£

2006
£

10

160,397

270,857

11
12

3,816,020
3,448,232
3,057,034

4,417,644
4,734,218
2,483,478

10,321,286

11,635,340

(2,942,207)

(4,858,562)

NET CURRENT ASSETS

7,379,079

6,776,778

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

7,539,476

7,047,635

FIXED ASSETS
Tangible assets

CURRENT ASSETS
Stocks
Debtors
Cash at bank and in hand

CREDITORS: Amounts falling due within one year

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES

13

14

NET ASSETS

-

(7,749)

7,539,476

7,039,886

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Called up share capital
Share premium account
Profit and loss account

15
16
17

2,248,850
3,303,691
1,986,935

2,248,850
3,303,691
1,487,345

EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

18

7,539,476

7,039,886

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 11 January 2008

Tim Morgan
Director
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the year ended 30 September 2007
Notes

2007
£

Cash flow from operating activities

19a

539,417

(761,177)

Returns on investments and servicing of finance

19b

48,813

118,771

(6,741)

(240,426)

(4,824)

(318,176)

Taxation
Capital expenditure and servicing of finance

19b

Equity dividends paid
CASH INFLOW/(OUTFLOW) BEFORE FINANCING
Financing

19b

INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH IN THE PERIOD

2006
£

-

(179,654)

576,665

(1,380,662)

576,665

(1,380,662)

RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FLOW TO MOVEMENT IN FUNDS
2007
£

2006
£

Increase/(decrease) in cash in the period

576,665

(1,380,662)

Decrease/(increase) in loan from Shared Interest Ltd.

693,935

(478,051)

MOVEMENT IN NET FUNDS IN PERIOD

1,270,600

(1,858,713)

NET FUNDS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2006

1,805,357

3,664,070

3,075,957

1,805,357

NET FUNDS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2007

19c
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with
applicable accounting standards.
TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Fixed assets are stated at historical cost.
Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets at rates calculated to write each asset down to its estimated
residual value evenly over its expected useful life, as follows:Long leasehold land and buildings
Office equipment and furniture

Over the life of the lease
Over three years on a straight line basis

STOCKS AND WORK IN PROGRESS
Stocks and work in progress are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of finished goods and
work in progress includes overheads appropriate to the stage of manufacture. Net realisable value is based upon
estimated selling price less further costs expected to be incurred to completion and disposal. Provision is made
for obsolete and slow-moving items.
FOREIGN CURRENCIES
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the
balance sheet date. Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the
transaction. All differences are taken to the profit and loss account.
RETIREMENT BENEFITS
The company operates a defined contribution scheme where the amount charged to the profit and loss account in
respect of pension costs and other post retirement benefits is the contributions payable in the year. Differences
between contributions payable in the year and contributions actually paid are shown as either accruals or
prepayments in the balance sheet.
DEFERRED TAXATION
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the
balance sheet date where transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more tax in the future or a
right to pay less tax in the future have occurred at the balance sheet date. Timing differences are differences
between the company’s taxable profits and its results as stated in the financial statements that arise from the
inclusion of gains and losses in tax assessments in periods different from those in which they are recognised in
the financial statements.
Deferred tax is measured at the average tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which timing
differences are expected to reverse, based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted
by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is measured on a non-discounted basis.
LEASED ASSETS AND OBLIGATIONS
Where assets are financed by leasing agreements that give rights approximating to ownership (“finance leases”),
the assets are treated as if they had been purchased outright. The amount capitalised is the present value of the
minimum lease payments payable during the lease term. The corresponding leasing commitments are shown as
obligations to the lessor.
Lease payments are treated as consisting of capital and interest elements, and the interest is charged to the profit
and loss account in proportion to the remaining balance outstanding.
All other leases are “operating leases” and the annual rentals are charged to profit and loss on a straight line
basis over the lease term.
TURNOVER
Turnover represents the invoiced value, net of Value Added Tax, of goods sold and services provided to
customers.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 September 2007

1

TURNOVER AND PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAXATION
The company’s turnover and profit before taxation were all derived from its principal activity. Sales
were made in the following geographical markets:

United Kingdom
Overseas sales

2

COST OF SALES INCLUDING PREMIUMS PAID TO
PRODUCER ORGANISATIONS
Opening stock as at 1 October
Purchases
Premiums
Closing stock as at 30 September

2007
£

2006
£

21,618,138
715,006

21,189,512
402,960

22,333,144

21,592,472

2007
£

2006
£

4,417,644
13,520,893
970,712
(3,816,020)

2,934,143
15,182,983
1,661,075
(4,417,644)

15,093,229

15,360,557

2007 purchases are net of £178,414 of accruals made in previous years which have been reversed
during the year. A thorough review has shown they are no longer necessary. These accruals were
originally set up in respect of retail trade investments.
3

ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

Staff costs (see note 7)
Marketing and selling costs
Producer partnership programmes (PPP)
Property-related costs
Depreciation
Export development costs
International expansion project
Other administrative expenses

2007
£

2006
£

1,371,175
2,798,492
606,446
198,271
115,284
209,394
285,829
998,770

1,156,249
3,150,315
683,628
169,368
93,889
48,368
1,000,484

6,583,661

6,302,301

Export development costs represent marketing, promotional and advertising costs relating to
development of the company’s sales in Hong Kong and Singapore. International expansion project
costs represent costs incurred on a project led by the Chairman and one of the non-executive directors.
This project, outlined at the Annual General Meeting in April 2007, is currently on hold in order to
focus on strengthening the UK business and continuing to develop select overseas markets.
4

INVESTMENT INCOME

Bank interest receivable

2007
£

2006
£

81,295

132,647
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 September 2007

5

INTEREST PAYABLE

On bank loans and overdrafts
On other loans

6

PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation is stated after
charging/(crediting):
Depreciation and amounts written off tangible fixed assets:
Charge for the year – owned assets
Gain on disposal of fixed assets
Exchange gains
Operating lease rentals:
Plant and machinery
Land & buildings
Auditors’ remuneration – statutory audit
Remuneration of auditors for non-audit work – taxation

7

EMPLOYEES

The average monthly number of persons (including executive
directors) employed by the company during the year was:
Sales and marketing
Operations and administration

Staff costs for above persons:
Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs

2007
£

2006
£

778
31,704

428
13,448

32,482

13,876

2007
£

2006
£

115,284
(185,310)

93,889
(5,731)
(11,006)

7,570
136,021
25,000
2,000

7,570
127,786
25,000
2,000

2007
No.

2006
No.

12
19

13
18

31

31

2007
£

2006
£

1,158,003
135,464
77,708

972,746
113,960
69,543

1,371,175

1,156,249
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7
EMPLOYEES
(Cont’d)
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

2007
£

2006
£

Emoluments
Amounts paid to defined contribution pension schemes

235,768
11,458

202,618
10,791

Total emoluments

247,226

213,409

No.

No.

2

1

£

£

97,511

80,559

The number of directors to whom relevant benefits
were accruing under defined contribution pension
schemes was

Amounts paid in respect of highest paid director
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 September 2007

8

TAXATION

2007
£

2006
£

Current tax:
UK corporation tax on profits of the year
Adjustments in respect of previous years

213,499
1,607

5,126
1,756

Total current tax

215,106

6,882

Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of timing differences

(9,629)

10,076

Total deferred tax

(9,629)

10,076

TOTAL TAX

Factors affecting tax charge for period:
The tax assessed for the period is higher than the standard rate of
corporation tax in the UK (30%). The differences are explained
below:
Profit on ordinary activities before tax
Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by small companies marginal
rate of corporation tax in the UK 30% (2006: 30%)
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Capital allowances in excess of depreciation
Other timing differences
Benefit of small companies starting rate
Adjustment to tax charge in respect of previous periods
Tax charge for period

9

DIVIDENDS

Ordinary shares
Final: nil per share (2006: 2p)

205,477

16,958

2007
£

2006
£

705,067

48,385

211,521

14,516

1,200
20,332
(527)
(19,027)
1,607

1,569
(9,568)
(626)
(765)
1,756

215,106

6,882

2007
£

2006
£

-

179,908
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for the year ended 30 September 2007

10

11

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Short
leasehold
improvements
£

Furniture,
fixtures &
fittings
£

£

Total
£

Cost
1 October 2006
Transfers
Additions
Disposals

166,440
(66,439)
-

72,444
(1,160)
2,800
(23,536)

321,677
67,599
2,024
(134,351)

560,561
4,824
(157,887)

30 September 2007

100,001

50,548

256,949

407,498

Depreciation
1 October 2006
Transfers
Charged in the year
Disposals

124,363
(66,439)
20,550
-

33,672
(1,160)
14,893
(23,536)

131,669
67,599
79,841
(134,351)

289,704
115,284
(157,887)

30 September 2007

78,474

23,869

144,758

247,101

Net book value
30 September 2007

21,527

26,679

112,191

160,397

30 September 2006

42,077

38,772

190,008

270,857

STOCKS

Raw materials and consumables
Work in progress
Finished goods and goods for resale

12

Computer
equipment

DEBTORS

Due within one year:
Trade debtors
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income

2007
£

2006
£

1,857,151
610,926
1,347,943

2,780,642
678,937
958,065

3,816,020

4,417,644

2007
£

2006
£

3,038,541
392,575
17,116

4,317,248
394,189
22,781

3,448,232

4,734,218

Included in other debtors is £1,880 in relation to deferred tax (2006: £Nil).
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13

CREDITORS: Amounts falling due within one year

Bank loans and overdraft
Trade creditors
Dividends
Corporation tax
Other taxation and social security
Other creditors
Accruals and deferred income

2007
£

2006
£

1,732
1,239,505
213,499
34,311
47,940
1,405,220

4,841
2,782,138
254
5,126
33,678
717,993
1,314,532

2,942,207

4,858,562

At 30 September 2006 ‘Other creditors’ included a loan of £673,280 relating to a buyer revolving
credit facility from the Shared Interest Society Ltd. This loan is unsecured and is due to be repaid
within three months. At 30 September 2007 this facility was in credit to the tune of £20,655 which has
been netted off ‘Other creditors’.
14

PROVISION FOR LIABILITIES

Deferred
taxation
£

Balance at 30 September 2006
Transfer from profit and loss account

7,749
(9,629)

Balance at 30 September 2007

(1,880)

2007
£

2006
£

Excess of tax allowances over depreciations
Other timing differences

838
(2,718)

10,148
(2,399)

Balance at 30 September 2007

(1,880)

7,749

Provision for deferred tax has been made as follows:

Deferred taxation is a net asset and so, accordingly, the above balance is included within debtors (see
note 12) in the balance sheet. The actual balance of the provision for liabilities is £nil (2006: £7,749).
15

SHARE CAPITAL

2007
£

2006
£

Authorised:
14,999,999 ordinary shares of 25p each

3,750,000

3,750,000

Allotted and called up
8,995,400 ordinary shares of 25p each

2,248,850

2,248,850

In addition to the above allotted and called up share capital there is one Guardians’ share of 25p which
is fully paid.
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The Guardians’ share differs from the Ordinary shares in that it has the right to safeguard the
company’s mission and its guiding principles. There is one Guardians’ share, held by the Guardian
Share Company Ltd, a company equally owned by the founders of Cafédirect plc (Equal Exchange
Trading Ltd, Oxfam Activities Ltd, Traidcraft plc and Twin Trading Ltd) and Cafédirect Producers Ltd.
It has the right to nominate a director to the company’s Board and its consent is also required for the
appointment of the Chair of the Board, for any changes to the company’s Gold Standard and for certain
changes to the Memorandum and Articles of Association.
Share Incentive Plan
During 2005 35,400 Ordinary shares of 25p each were issued under the company’s Share Incentive
Plan to employees based on their length of service. During 2007, payments totalling £2,700 (2006:
£8,700) were made to employees who left the company during the year in respect of their share
entitlements. At 30 September 2007 employees held 17,400 shares under this Plan with the balance of
18,000 remaining unallocated.
16
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SHARE PREMIUM ACCOUNT

2007
£

2006
£

Balance at 30 September 2006
Premium on shares issued during the year

3,303,691
-

3,303,691
-

Balance at 30 September 2007

3,303,691

3,303,691

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

£

Balance at 1 October 2006
Profit for the year
Dividend

1,487,345
499,590
-

Balance at 30 September 2007

1,986,935

RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENT IN SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

£

Shareholders funds at 1 October 2006
Profit for the year
Dividend

7,039,886
499,590
-

Shareholders funds at 30 September 2007

7,539,476
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CASH FLOWS

2007
£

a

Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash inflow from operating
activities
Operating profit/(loss)
Depreciation
(Loss) on sale of fixed assets
Decrease/(increase) in stocks
Decrease/(increase) in debtors
(Decrease)/increase in creditors

656,254
115,284
601,624
1,287,874
(2,121,619)

Net cash flow from operating activities

b

539,417

Analysis of cash flows for headings netted in the cash flow
RETURNS ON INVESTMENTS AND SERVICING OF FINANCE
Interest received
Interest paid

c

2007
£

2006
£

(70,386)
93,889
(5,731)
(1,483,501)
(1,244,205)
1,948,757
(761,177)

2006
£

81,295
(32,482)

132,647
(13,876)

NET CASH INFLOW FROM RETURNS ON INVESTMENTS
AND SERVICING OF FINANCE

48,813

118,771

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND FINANCIAL INVESTMENT
Purchase of tangible fixed assets
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets

(4,824)
-

(349,376)
31,200

NET CASH (OUTFLOW) FROM CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND
FINANCIAL INVESTMENT

(4,824)

(318,176)

Cash flow
£

At 30
September
2007
£

Analysis of net funds

At 30
September
2006
£

Cash in hand, at bank
Bank overdraft
Loan from Shared Interest Ltd

2,483,478
(4,841)
(673,280)

Net funds

1,805,357

573,556
3,109
693,935
1,270,600

3,057,034
(1,732)
20,655
3,075,957
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COMMITMENTS UNDER OPERATING LEASES
At 30 September 2007 the company had annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases
as follows:

Land and buildings
expiring in the second to fifth year
Other
expiring in the first year
expiring in the second to fifth year

21

2007
£

2006
£

108,174

108,174

2,138
2,160

7,570

112,472

115,744

PENSION COMMITMENTS
The company operates a defined contribution pension scheme. The assets of the scheme are held
separately from those of the company in an independently administered fund. The pension cost charge
represents contributions payable by the company to the fund and amounted to £77,708 (2006: £69,543).
Contributions totalling £9,057 (2006: 6,613) were payable to the fund at the year end and are included
in creditors.

22

COMMITMENTS
At 30 September 2007 the company was committed to purchase £3.2 million (2006: £1.4 million) of
coffee beans, £159,000 (2006: £45,000) of tea and £nil (2006: £26,000) of cocoa beans.

23

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT
The company’s activities expose it to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
The company uses foreign exchange forward contracts to manage these exposures. The company does
not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. The use of financial derivatives is
governed by the company’s policies approved by the board of directors, which provide written
principles in the use of financial derivatives.
At 30 September 2007 the company had in place forward exchange contracts to buy 2.9 million US
dollars at an average exchange rate of $1.96=£1, and 4.9 million euros at an average exchange rate of
€1.45=£1. These forward exchange contracts were taken out to mitigate the company’s foreign
currency risks on its forecast tea purchases and freeze-dried coffee processing costs over the next 12
months, respectively. The maximum exposure the company had as a result of these arrangements was
£44,000 in respect of the US dollar contracts and a gain of £57,000 in respect of the Euro contracts.
These figures represent the difference between the spot rate at the balance sheet date and the average
hedge rates entered into over the coming year. The directors consider these arrangements give the
company more certainty in managing its exposure to currency movements which are required to meet
the majority of its tea raw material purchases and freeze-dried coffee processing.
In addition a related party, Twin Trading Ltd, takes out forward exchange contracts on Cafédirect’s
behalf to mitigate the foreign exchange risk on Cafédirect’s forecast coffee bean purchases over the
next 12 months. At 30 September 2007 Twin Trading Ltd had in place contracts to buy 7.9 million US
dollars at an average exchange rate of $1.95=£1. The maximum exposure the company had as a result
of these arrangements at the balance sheet date was £134,000.
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RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
2007
£

2006
£

Debtor balances with related parties
Trade debtors

269,609

467,603

Creditor balances with related parties
Trade creditors
Accruals

143,725
54,883

327,218
72,946

2,355,648
4,222,877
668,376
-

2,329,494
6,156,925
895,946
72,370

The following are included in the financial statements:

Transactions with related parties
Sale of goods
Purchase of goods
Services provided
Dividends paid

The related parties comprise the four original shareholder companies Equal Exchange Trading Ltd,
Oxfam Activities Ltd, Traidcraft plc and Twin Trading Ltd, who each hold around 10% of the share
capital of the company, and Cafédirect Producers Ltd, which holds 4.9% of the company’s share
capital.
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